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JAMES N. DARRAH, witness ealled on be

People, being duly sworn, testified as £

I first suw people's Bxhibit 4 u few days b

I think sabout the 21lst of June, 1002, I rese

eeived it for value, I delivered People's 3’h§§‘§ﬁ 
Theodore ¥, Sharp, 45 Liberty Street, Whet tme
into my possession it becama my property, I 1Mt
Sharp -~ : i

I directed Mr., Sharp, aad I told him t6

L et

note diseounted for my own beuwf'm.~

4

1 know the defendant, Martin Conleén,
met him in Pebruaryv, I think, 1903, I hsad ‘ "w
with him at that time, in regard to this n :
hibit Mo, 4, That eonversation was at

I uskéd him about the note
ceived any of the proeeeds of it, ¢
sign had come to me, sometime pr
that he w.nted to vindisate
me,

He asked |



note to Mr, Coenlon,

Mr. Conlon said, "It is aot true, I utvov

a dollar of it, and it is news to l- porsoalllr thll

ever received au.y mouey from this note,




note to vou,

conlon

says ,

Mr. "I reeeived the |
thut therefore, the ote was protested and tt N
owner of tho note.

Ensign, and Mr. Risby of Stern & Ruﬂhorl, “ Hl'u '

and Mr, Atwater mnd I mot into-cmttm‘ om-.: N

i bt A ee.



heard that $1, 'roo had veen pm to

I said, "NoO more f.rmn that , hnmn t

should say there was & lithle more Oonv&mf

mesting.,

pay for it; that he had some--that M
then, but that he was willing to nvo a m'

shickea farm down in Long Island, I !’w”t

Nordei. moout the matter; that he was trying to m w.
den, but that Mr, Norden was down south, I thm L
wate, my best reeollection is in Wilmington
liave, axd then he got up to m

llr. Bisby or Storn & nuqh.oro was |

him a few qunttoxu. He was from Stern & Rus

o e e



lon said *] don't like
I don't want
.willin( to pay it baek if vou give me tm,m;

secure yvyou I will give ycu & Lortgage on thu

he wus going out ot the door,he udﬁ '*'4

vindictive,are yout%, I says "lo,uot a blhnli»

and I promised him that I would not.
I met COnlon in August,1903,.Last August,at m
Post Offiee in Broadway and spoke to him about tm‘
I snid to Mr, Conlon that he did mot sone in to

see me as he had pro-uaa and he said that he M ) ¢



that he hud nooivod no letter: from tM mh‘m‘

ofﬂu .und I uid,"on why don't you .o" he “g:

ontiroly innoeent of this matter,entirely,

1 never received a dollar and I Mv. M 4

willing to go any time®, "Well ,I said, *now ,since then 1

have heard that Norden has given you most of that money®,
He said ,*Who told you so%? I said *"Mr,
reported it to me": he suid, "I never noo&n‘ L

the money®, He repeanted that uu-tmt,uu‘:. :



lice Court,"

CROSS EXAMINATION:

Bisby oitting in front of me, He is Mr., |
ho is connected with the firm of ﬂun l

aonal counsel,

said no, I said I wanted my money. ‘
the hands of Sterni % Rushmore and whatever “ttu
was taken by them, |

I am acting under my lawyer's advice.
case into my lgw;rer'u hands for the M’olnﬂqf__'
this note, We gave up the hope long ago, “M
ing any money on this note, :

© If this note had been paid before



criminal action, :
I did not testify that T had thi

with Mr. Conlon on the way to the N.uﬁﬁ’-‘:"‘

. I said I et Mr. Conlon on Broadway

Office, I had a conversation about pgoing ui‘”té

Attorney's office,

office. Mr, Conlen, at first accepted; M w
1903,

If Mr. Conlon had pulled from hl
ceeds of that note and said, “"Why here t.!jinr"
gave them to me to give you two weeks ago™,
stopped the proceedings in the District ‘A&MM";

T would not have taken the money without ‘Q
ing Stern & Rushmore. I don't hesitate a uimﬁ.--! !"'dliw
this note t'or shoe and machinery stock. ‘

I save in exchange stock for it, with the om
of the maker. "‘hat stock cost , t.ha devolopunt. cf W
thing, I suppose, cost tlbO 000, I did not give “M

& $2,000 note;, I did not say that; I gave mtum



gave for that note. !horomqn

B. Beecher and myself, I could not

August the same year; no sir;
part. of July, It was not in March.

on a very light suit at the time; it was # W
rémmbor. : i o L

When T had that conversation with
-presence o1 Mr, Bisby, of the f'irm of Btérn & R shmore
lon teld me that he had heard that Nordon.rou_ﬁu‘d‘lh‘

tor that note,



?abruary. Mr. Bisby was there ahead ct'Qﬁ%
in the Police Court at the proceedings @

I could not hear very '1A1  
Police Court, because they were all gb

thc toatimany.
I did not hear the testimony on tha trtu&
nepses were excluded from that trial; I was Gut 1n th‘

ridor.

ANDREW J, ENSIGN, awitness called on beh
of the pPeople, being duly avofh, testified Id fﬁi

I live at 310 Livingston Street, Brock;y§; é.

a lawyer, and was admitted to‘prgntico 1858. 'Im‘% .

People's Exhibit 4; I l'irst saw it about the rtfﬂ



him about the note, _

"I knew Mr.- Conlon was from New
he was, I understood so and thie note uni”unju
lkscechor living in New naxon I allo id!ﬂﬂ hﬂﬁ@
note; he said that he knew Mr, Beecher and thﬂ@
tectly responsible and if the note was gcnuiha~hﬁ.:
it discounted,; he wanted I should go and get the mu.‘

He said he knew Mr., Boecher and knew he wvas M
sponsgible, and it the note was gemaine he could get M. M‘
counted, ”

.

I told him that I could get the note ana the tw

would be ten per cent discount if he could get 1& diq ff



wfternoon when he came in. I did ‘.thit,.

necticut to & bank outside; I told htn lt

like that; I don t ramembor the m.

about that time, T won't say exactly what date, he MQ

oute.

sau Street . It was along the trirst of Juiy, A



the fourth, flfth or m:m ot

wheres,

Nothing more wasa ldd

troduced him to Mr. Conlon, and I m*

yourselves"®,

along in November after that. I went to his office dozens
of times, and never found him therc; Lhey said he wm‘

LoOwn,

is my handwri. tiug.



he said that he would srttle it, el

I don't know whﬁthor he teolad ” :
I knew myself; I knew it was !dvtnvIQ leb:;'”
had been, that previous summer, ot No. 9 &I.

St. Marks Place.

mentioned to me by any person in connection vim'th!‘
I said, "Why '

note, Why do rou refrain?

he said he didn't want to get-Norden 1nto U‘O\lblﬂm

- There was considerable t.alk but that »asg W

not want Lo get Norden into trouble.

R kknx We sadd hexped SXARR 4



i

1‘ auq'zm

-

ment appeared on it. I don't raunnboi'im;7

waa legally liahle to pay that note.,

take them out and then we will divide the balance which

let't of the ten per cent",

I know this was in the f'irst part of July.
not say what gate &m July, I won't say whether it in¢ Uow

fore the Tourth or after the fourth or-artor the f&ﬁ%ﬁw



ing Mr. Conlon with Mr. 'holply.

At th' tw

Arter I saw him with Mr, Whelply I diA dbijV
don't remember of seeing him until in November; n?; 'u
called .on me in my fouse in Brooklyn., I QOB't rii;
exact lanpusgse he -used on t.hﬂ. occasion; I only ,

substance. i ) ‘ !

x4
’

A . fu's! ’ : ¥ i , y
it e kS A it {4 W\.&. i Ml’.,



He did not tell me at the time ‘“‘t.!vhdﬁg‘
note, ‘ |
- He told me that he understood f,m
ceived $1800 for it, Mr. Conlen did, at m
of this note having Been hawked aboutmzm
Connecticut. He said that he would M*
and tind out ’it' it was a genuine no't.l\.; -

A_t some time he told me that tt

know, but he did speak of that, that im truq_”

He might have said aoﬁothiné to Mr,
this note being hawked about, that he had no‘t".
when he got the note, that it was a note tm&
tered to other people, that he thought it m q ew

words to that effect;,; I would not say Yslb.m.._-.;ﬁ_
) Y V% !

pose I received it, I told him I had

Waelply of 32 Hroadway to get the note di



‘money; to luma the nomy Lo mmﬂ :
resented; he m nnply a brokor u I !

was a noto'brokor.

I made an erfort to get the note p‘u-‘i_
summer of 1902; I nn‘t to Mr. Conlori'n rm,; hu

went there & half dozen t:lmou; I saw his um.:

The defendant was to hand back the p

the note back to me when discounted, '!h.'

to the owner of the note,

| That was the bargain bo;lvnn him and ...

my signature, I wrot@ that léttor to 'Nordbn,'w;

1903; that is my letter; I wrote a good Wﬁf
‘ i i

is my writing. T had been given this note wﬂr

.



.

.Norden, I don't know that Mr. Isbell' is a purtth of ﬂﬁ%f‘

| !hn& 1. my hanﬂvriting.
letters until I EOt tired of it, I h:
them., I cannot uu you what time M is i
right 1902.

WILLIAM J, ATWATERER, calloddlls

as follows:
I live in New Haven, Connecticut.
People's Exhibit 4 in the hands of a man named Nor

J. Norden,

New Haven, Connecticut in my office. It was about ~--I

heard of him about ten o'clock in the morning.
I heard of him through a amn named Isbell,

from my office to Mr. Isboll'é office and there I nnt,ll§f 

John.J. Shea. He used to be in the office with?hﬁupb‘f

I saw this note again in the-aftorﬁnoaghtﬁh
about 12 o'clock; about one hour aftar thut I bougﬁt"
note f'rom Mr, lord.n whose name 1- ‘endorsed on ﬂﬁta

paid two thousand dollars for it, in bills,



have bought it 11’ I d:ld not.,

CROSS xxmmumm

lon, the defendant in this case.

EDWIN J. NORDEN, avanm‘;

being duly sworn, testified u uuw

I 11vo at 108 Rast 124th mrm,
man, and have been married ten years. IW
Martin Conlon,

I have known him about twe yoa.rl. tm t
and a half I guess, I do not romember the da.r 5 VIW
'ed; it was about October, 1903; about the t‘i{th;

time,

-



the first of July, 1902, lt".' Mﬁn he

I believe it was in the c'unillso M

lieve, I first saw that note. It vas in
I had a comrersa.tion with the
time, Whether I could dispose of the note Gvr

if he let me take it to

cbunt it; that was the first time he gave it

note, whether Mr, Beechr'a signature was sonniﬁjg“
He told me to go up and verify the mta’;,tc'ﬂf-“ﬂ'
Beecher, I saw Beecher,; I believe it was the seame nignt,ﬁr

the next night; I am not very sure about that.

note in the avening, and I went to
I believe; not on the night train;

morning, because I saw Mr, Beecher

morning, in New Haven,



th‘l “téc i
came right back to New York.,

Juat a8 soon &8 I returned.

Beecher; said it was his signature and chuf"

Then he said the note oould be sold in New 1

July, some time, ] ¢
T see by this book it was the 1l7th of J\I,lj-
second vigit to New Haven was the 17th pf' July, It mhr
repard to this note. I saw t,l':a ditferent persons thn.t m
defendant told me to interview for thempurpoo.e of‘d—il@ﬁl\%’"
ing the note. - ' » R
I went to about four persons in that way. M qet
them was an attorney, Mr, Matt Reynolds, another m nm
named Cronin and then Mr. Isbell. I don't think the ¢q_;pf*
ent had given me Isbell's name. Thoro»m lmathu M b

note broker there, but I do not remember his name.



talk I had finally settled on two thousand aam‘
ephoned to New York before I sold the note.

T telephoned to Mr. Conlon, to 9 8t. Marks Pl.m,'v"
my own off'ice, I had an appoin-tment with Mr, Conlon; Ihl‘
&an appbim,menl, on the telephone with h:_lm; he m"t'o call ﬂ ‘
up at twelve o'clock sharp, | 4

| He was to call we up at the Public telcphobo
station at New Haven. I went tb the Station at tnl?ﬂ&

o ciock and had a talk with some one; with l!r. OMW l nt

talked with him over the te lephone,



t.ake two thouund donsrs or nﬂ. uad M
"Yes¥, *Take two thma-d annm and MT
quick as you can', which I dom_.

I was to meet him when I got to

migsions that I had paid, | I had pam in c :
$95 cr $100. I paid them to Mr. Isbell and N"

I paid Isbell %75, I paid ﬂwﬁ.MV
$95 0\;t of the mohey., I paid my expenses w,t
Mr. Aibiru;er'a "ex'penaes also, He 'az’u: u!ii~ w'""s‘éo:
lets up .t.hera, to look over some lots. ‘

Wnen I jot back to New York I had something over
eichteen hundrv.d dollars. I wer:t to the Grand Union Hﬂtﬂ.
vas T hed an eppointment Lo meet Mr. Conlon; that Qppﬂht“‘
ment having heen made over the telephone, I toock the nom .
‘with me. I saw Conlon there. I went in the restam'dnt-‘;‘ N
sat down and had a steak there, The three of us sat Mﬂ!‘a }

Albineer Mr. Conlon and myu'alx" we ugured on the bm Qt



was the very monsy I recoivuﬁf lt iﬁ**

I kept it there all aay.

I saw Conlon sgain, T saw him

nad a conversation with him in resard'to‘

He paid to me, "I haxen‘t anf

I tesrified yes note
trom the defendant, Conlon, early in July, 1902, '!‘hlt,“m
the note the first instructions I received rrun Gonlﬁuhﬂﬁﬁﬁ
to take the note to New Haven, see the maker.anf;fQQWlka o

Beecher, and ascertain from him whether or noi thd nbt‘.‘iﬂr

cenuine wnd had been given for value' that is oorvuoju_



Beecher yérified the sigmtnro'vand_l’ ﬂﬁ
Parran's signature. I also verified Mr.
t;hrough Mr, Beecher.

I told Mr. Conlon that I had seen
| «nd asked him the follow:lng, qucltiunl. *Il;,
"Yes"; "was that given for value NGG&V A'
that Mr, Darrah's signature?® ?!ol." M
versation I had with Mr. Beecher,

I had ‘a further convei'latiu with
Conlon, in reg'ard to the note, Peoﬁl&‘a lxh;l.hi‘%

erence to the discount of it, the disposing of :l.h

VYew York Citry,

The note was in the Varick Bank for a M M‘
rot quite & week put there for their diapoaition, tﬁ “O
whether they would diacount it, am they remlod.' MI
tried some other process here in New York and they

fused (o discount the note; I reported that 'tq &'c



another broker on Church Street, I bolim
Block, T am not sure though;, and I tried t‘o.
note with these people, . |
He told me 'co try and discount M wiw
told me, if T failed to discount it, to try
it, try and sell it,.
At that time there wap x;ot_hinﬁ said

cent discount, of which I was to gut one hﬂﬁ',

sald he ot ten per cent and he would split that 'ﬁﬁ u’
He was to receive ten li'er cent for his aervico. in ai
ing the note. .

I was to receive one half thereof for ny lirvﬂ“ﬂ]y
I‘took the not.é to New llaven, Before I "l‘el'lt‘ I hﬁd thiu
versation in regard to who T should see ther&‘.
conversation with the defendant.

T went to New Haven ror' the seconfl tmi

to this note on the seventeenth of July, 1902.

w0 [l



see him,

T left either a note there or word, I won't b.
sure which;, I then went baok to Mr. Shea's off'ice and h. }M
not in then, und T traveled then to Mr. Cronin's 0!'1““3 b
went to Mr, Cronin's ofiica -- i ‘

Mr., cronin 15 one of the pa.rtie. thlt W.m

again in about an hour,



‘me to come beck in lmhmr.‘ I vmwhm M

on Chapel Street, and I ‘saw Mr. !‘nm:l.
Mr. Isbell is Iﬂr. .Q\ou'l"pu’tmhy:;

rebell about the note before -- but I th#\\ul!

him and he might find a teker for the note,

man that would buy it and he said he voula Wm“ t
I ahould come back in mour. 0t

Having these three appointunu ¥ nﬂ. _
again to Mr. Roynolds; I met Mr, Reynolds WII%
refused to do anything about it because he IMM
discount the note in New Haven, that if he ‘done
with it he would have to take it out to some atm
Essex, in Cennecticut. : ] _

He told me he was the attofm; for this m; Q‘
I told himthat I could not wait two or three days for it M
he could not go out at that time and I cut him out of it;
1. iidn't bother with him any more. I iam buk to Mr, Cro- ‘.
nin and herrefused to discount it.

He said he hadn't the money to spare just t.hm t!
discount the note, that he thought t.ha note was all rm.,

but he couldn't Aiscount it; I went to Mr, Block ‘and he lﬂ



for this note, . | - : *



Conlon,
Before I went to Nowﬁ Haven I

with the defendant for communication witl

Place. I went back Lo see this ot.hlrf __
on Chapel Street; I Aid not see h:hl ttnn M&f»
near the time I had the appointment oncm
then I went to the telephone office: '

'I. waited there a few ninutel.w n o
ator said, called my name,
to see you, somebody would like to see you on thi tﬂl

I went to the telephone; wmr, Albimr was bith". 18,
I had a onveredt ion over the telephone vit.h l!'. m*t
Ltold him I could not sell the note, or could not GMM‘

the not.e through any ol them at once, : Rl &

I told him T had received an offer fﬂI m ‘



tice for me, that I would call him up on

ter in the afternoon and let him know what

back in New York,

aation_ we had over the telephone, I am
ollection of what was said no&ly two wt
| There was some c&wonuti‘oul'mm‘",

Mr. Atwater was the mp.n—-thefe was I“
don't remember what it was. 1
There was some telk of that RMM

what T learned later that --1 wemt baek to Mr.

office. HMr, Albinger went with me,

Mr. Atwater's 61‘1'ice, I won't be bure of f.hat. _

I saw Mr. Aiwater again; Lhe next time I muu
wag at his ofrice, There was some talk in ramw,m
reterence to the note, and he then made out his Mm

sent it te his bank for the cash to pay me,



‘money and Mr. Atwater pa.id me the mmy. h&

" Then, I believe, Mr, Iabell came in aﬂor am n

‘was about half past tvélvo or one o'olock. It

in bills. He cave me $2,000. in billa. 1h

note and he ukad me to put my name on it.

R LTaa

over to Mr, Isbell's of‘fi-oo.

been half past one, I can't remember the hoﬂ'
tWO years ago.

I paid Mr, Shea or Mr, Isbeli $75.

Mre Isbell
I went out. with Mr, Albinger and Mr. Shea; we wolit Qn“ tM

amt we have had some buainon um thor'

H
4 ‘

TS il B it b s Ay sl Aty - ] i L e, i



up 1858 18th %reet. wh".ch is the W’w
Plage, my office.

He was there, I mm I&y M

ford, you are pinnin(; me down to thQ ,
&bout. the time. ;
ahould’ say it was about SW

it might have been near three.

to New York on the next train, ‘ !
He says, "All right"; he aa.yl,‘ "llov. I i'tl). 7@1'
sou where to meet me,.," We made an a.ppointment at th‘ mmn
Union Hotel, _
The train I came on was ooﬁewherea abmtfin ot
six o'clock, a8 near as I can _rov‘conaot.

at 4:30; I won't be sure of that.

v



of New York,

T saw Mr, COnlo,u. Ir. Alhlmr

were very hungry, Tot us Have Seds uup,cr‘,f~
We had supper, We sat down and lh

of fare that wé ordered from I figured the mm,m

commissions and everything to him and I handed hin mr
balonce of the money, I handed him $1800, b

I hénded him the sane money t.hn.t  § hM r.ﬂlm
trom Mr, Atwater, less the commissions and what he m.a ﬂ,
I received $100 out of the money I handed hiu, .M Wt mﬂ‘

the money that I broug;ht back from New Ravnm



to me; either one, I don't know whtth.

- Was storpina at Sheepshead Bay ‘then and gogug
at night .

I says, "You are in Novabtk.
this money, it is yours, and take oaro 05,1”
to carry it out into the country with na -hmah\

protection of any kind",

‘I handed it over to him;
his way and I went to Sheepshead Baw.

He had the money. I did not see Hr. cauanu

Conlon and Mr. Albinger were thoro. At

binger had his oifice with na. hn wua

P Jadid s,



- I iy Aanwmw/‘ ¥

Howwits. Mr. Conlen told me thEt he nﬁﬁ
pocket and théat ﬁé ,wa.ntod me to oop;)‘li& 'Tﬂ, fo
hadn'l any bank account and'bhat t“»I am .
work for him he would draw on me, from t o

whatever cash he wantod.

i . Trust Company. I just -openod ‘that Mw

11 is the bank book. '

’
»

sum I paid out for Mr, Conlon was Ibﬂ!m

$72. That is the check, People's lxhifrlb’ 12,

sa.yaA to make him out a check tor $72%; I says, "11, r&@h
will I maké it out to". :

He said, "you better not make it out un, M
cause I don't want to be connected with wpmw‘ ‘

e money or anything about it.' “Well, I says, "W



handvriting. The worda P. R, Albinger 1. M.

lon, I have seen him write.

anyway. That check passed 1nto tbo m ‘I" Mr
‘did see it pass, positively, I ham‘ lt tv .:.
the back of it when I handed it t.o hin.
People's Rxhibit 15 is a ohock drawn M I od
me, T pigned a.nd drew mat check on July 19t.h 19w¢ M

vas the day ut‘ter the deposit of the -SISOO.

time, I drew this check after having had & cwmm o

with Mr. Conlen,



3

I handed tc Mr, Horwitz.

he returned with the $150, and I tt&d

I doposﬂ‘d M m.. '

Mr, Conlon.
The defendant Conlon saw this o
the dofonda.nt. whenever I could get him tol?‘.

his own name; he q,lwayu asked me for c&ﬂhw

handed them as part of the $1500,

‘"Those are the checks.

'rhue checks were givon in paymént ot

It was at h:ltmto\m. bona xum, M I m' {

I was buying the tu'n for m-. Gonla.



broker i'n the mtor.

I had 1mtrucuous ﬂ'mﬂt“pﬂ

paying for that fb.rm. He wanted m P
I 'was to select the place with hin‘l‘utavt'of bu
and we finally settled on a place 'n.t Lonc

The place was right off anith't.oﬁl‘ &
Comack; we agreed to pay so much cash; ‘»160’

nulance in a $2,000 mortgage, Mr. Oonlon't

Mr. Conlon, The title to the property m

Conlon,

drawn, I paid some money to the defendant which I have ne
evidence to prove, which I cannot show, but 1 gave hhm

cash.

to this farm, —verything pertaining to it. I bon‘b,‘
tor the defendant, Conlon, which were delivered “m'ﬂv gl

that farm. There were horaas and IhinalOl, t'o .

the check,



that I made. I had aoa.unsn ﬂm nm !’

Clyde & Gompany. They were & stnﬂh&r m,

bringing & hundred thousand shingles from
the covering of the hen house at Comack , Wu
farm which I had bought for Mr, con].ou. | L
‘ I paid Clyde & Company the. tﬂisht ml.
eighty or seventy or ninety dollars, Mm P
don't rexr.onbor.

' That 1a the check for t.ho t‘voiw m‘
for the shingles; I paid Marsh & Company m M

appear in the check. That was payable br um.

Dieterle carted the shingles from ﬁh‘ mm M
over to the Northport boat that carried them down to m :
Island, at the foot of Fulton Street, the Noru\pcrt M.

These are the same whingles I have bo.n"fmlm
LO; I think only this check was in pamnt for M Im
Sandford, I don't think t.heoe two were,

The se were in payment for some troi&t;

cannot say definitely. I made a pamm to m

Publishing Company,; that is the cll_-.ﬁ.



-

‘New York,

was drawn and sent and. nnd h‘y m‘in :
edge of the defendant and at his direction,

It was true of these checks, 'M

ment of the freight on & ten horse power engine.

It was a moveable engine and was M. -

It was from the Harder Mamufacturing co-.m ﬂ.

livered on the farm, to Mr. Conlon; the receipt --
I don't believe I recollect any other payment

that I made., There were certain payments made for which I

have no vouchers, i :

For about & year and & half after the 18th day of
July, I had conversations with Mr. Conlon lin rom to the -
note., On the 17th day of July, 1902, I was not m«\ma ”




The matter pasped rism out dﬂ'n
t.hat,' er. Sendford, It came into -y.nlnﬂ' v 1

was another note offered me for the same pv

I believe by & amn named Tobin,

and I would probably sell it for hi s 4 wmw
it for me &nd I told him then, I says -- : |
I am speaking of what I told Conlon; ef'lﬁt 2

told Conlon, what conversation I had with Tobin; I says,

"They finally refused to give it to me and I asked him why
and he told me that they had given & lawyer on Nesein Stseeh
a note and they didn't get it back yet,® ‘ B
He then said to me, "Well, don't you say mﬁuu
about it, Keep your mouth closed®, Mr, oonlon m GW.
That is all of that convorauuou that I can MM.

I should Beny that was about six mk. after Pﬂpld'. W’l




first of September, 1902. |
A After that I had no further

the note‘mnd he said, "Never mind, You k
closed, It is my responsibility, I will m

It is up to me, it isn't up to you at nu*

Sandford, when I come to think of it; I had ot
with Mr. Ensign; I had known him,

I first had a communication with ,r, Ensign in W“'
rard to the note on the day it fell due, I spaw Mr, Mn\
about that matter; he came to see me. He said he m Bim

I told Conlon of the interview I M 'llh Kr. h-s ¥
sign, I told him that Mr, Enaign hnd ullud to mn ﬂ ' 
that I had evaded him; through h:ll inutmcttﬂ ) & m m |

say -anything to anybedy about the uoto.



to him at all,

Conlon a note;

to him at all, T said tm to Gln}.m

Conlon said to me all you have
your mouth closed and I will take care of yo

"After that I had & talk with Conlom in ri

when I got a letter form Stern & Rushmore;
letter, F am not sure whether I have
I told him that a firm of lawy

the first--that was not Stern & Rush

people that wrote me about it, Mr, W
The first people nrq“mﬂﬁ_‘bf“
Wall Street; they called at the otr;éy'ﬁb
ded them; T Aid not see them. | / : ’ &
Through the instructions of '!r'.‘ BOMIN :
see anybody. To sum it all up there vas Mhlum
for me to keep away and don't aée anybody 'una ﬂtﬁ‘ -w
te him and.let him see the entire correspondence M ‘n.
was to it, ' i .
This was in regard to this ‘not.o. nqvoif_.tﬁ say
a.nythiné to anybody about it, He said he would mm

of me whenever the subject came up.



office.

ik I told Mr. Conlon that & &

I showed those letters to Conlon ouch‘t.liﬂ-; |
Aidn't get a thing or do anything about this without Mt- '.“"'-,'/:“
ting him know, ’
I proposed to go and see nmb.dy u\d quht Wﬁ

thing down, nettle it or do aamthins about L & 1) 1 NQ m o



he was arrested first, he was a.rraua fﬁit
I was arrested on this charge and
the court do'mat.aiu, before Magistrate Bwlﬁ.
defendant, Conlon, in that court;-he was then ir ‘e‘ou:;"t,,‘ m.
T had & conversation with him, that is in tho w
of him runnin;; over to me a.nd he saye, "You ko\op your m‘ﬁ
closed, T will Aattend to thie thing for you‘.

I saw Officer Rappolt thoro. Whon comn om up

and spoke to me, Officer Rappolt took me ovor. he W

me over towards the other side of the court room,



about an hour the ﬂ.rﬂ t!lt

there, I attracted his attontion.frdh‘tﬁil
upper tier and told him that T had been
He says, *What for®; I says, *On 1

he says, "Well, keep your mouth closed aM' t

it", I got out on bail in about an hour w
taken then over to the Police Court. e

The conversation in tha TW
lice. cot;-rt.. Conlon was taken buk w,»tm}-{ .

After I got out on bail IM
nim, I believe, in Harlem; T went to hfla hwn
.few days after the Police Court examination. :

We had a converoation there in regard to ﬁw ;
transaction, People's exhibit 4; that was the reason I M‘
to see him., I had a conversation in regard to my maw,

in Court. : : b

[ was to do under any condition., Mr. Conlon veas.: uﬂm
me and I had Mr, Camphell and Hr. Settell vnh hs',, :

ciated with him, I retained Mr, cunpboll and lr. lﬂm



Mr. Settell and Mr. Conlon were t.h‘o'_,r‘i t_‘
frame up a defense.
Mr. Conlon made a statement to I!‘. :

Mr, Set t.oll and to myself; T was promt.

Lo get my oxpnnu. out of it if I «mlﬁ«*

The result would be, he said, M t‘

on the walk, that I would be acquitted, -w:

by him, to typewriting., 7T saw the statcﬁp-nt that m“
duced to typewriting, ' |

That is the statement. Tt was reduced to ty‘po-
wri tin:f-: right there in the room with Mr, Campbeéll, lr.ht-
tell, Mr. Conlon and myself; Mr, Glasburg wrote that; mm
the manual work, Mr, Cm.xlon read it 6vor after it mMi’-
ten, ) . RRLAR, Sk

I Aid not see him sign it. I &ﬁ't velieve [ 3l

neard anything about his having signed it, The quest ien



like that.

This statement, P.ople'. m“-“,’ﬂf*.

note Lo do as I plouod -un u.



in T would ke held anyhow,

I .t»hcn asked him
‘would happen, and he says,
h_ﬂfulruf‘; he says, "I will

too, You will never serve

at; he did not explain that to me; I told him thlt T MC
be convicted., I thought, peroomlly, that T would be con~
victed, and he says, "There is no chance of it, you -ux am.
be convict.‘ed', and I inaisted t.ho.t I thought 1 would In. y "‘,
If I didn't go on the stand, and Aid keep away
from it .tho jury would hlwo convicted me on that ‘

if T would keep of'f the stand,



a witnees in my own umr;u

‘CROSS EXAMINATION:

to of the proceeds of that note, I acted

hone-t.ly for Mr. Conlon,

Jury and they said he had testified against me.
| I should say it was about six "“'v M!‘mw
trial that T had an examination in t.ho Pol:ln OM at
Mr, Conlon testified; I lhould m it was . tm

the 13th of ootober, e



the discount by him of this noto?'

Conlon, "Give it to me? No, sir.*

police court; I took him to task for it Q.ﬂ

Probably I heard you ask me t.hua
it is there I did, "You heard his ten;.mﬁy ;a »
Court? A FWo, sir; I heard parts of his to‘a‘tWA
Vleren L you standing on one side and Conlen on the OM
and did he not speak in & loud voice? A I h-a.rd PW 0!“
his testimony, Q You didn't know whether le was pww
you false? A No, Qir, but you ;junt read it to M, mé
Chanler," :

"Q You had a liwyor thon; dian't m!
gir, Q Didn't you ask your lawyer vhltih.rs :

or against you in the Police Court? A YC‘{ m

.



S th!.nk I ata W

now, vhat the proceedings were,

The question whether or not Mr. cib“
me falae, in the testimony which he gave in-@hﬁw
Adid make an impression on my mind. l »

I have a fairly good memory, Thii'

lon, and Mr. Conlon knows 1t t00.

All of. them were present, Messrs Settell naﬂ{

beel and (lasburg with Mr. Conlon and myself, and 1n thﬂi*

presence I told them that I had piven this money banl tﬁ

Conlon,

Mr. Campbell and Mr. Settell were my

my trial in this court; they sat by my nidb“qiﬂ :
table. I remember Conlon testifying up«ﬁf_?

member it diltinotly.



2

wér to the qmtuon: " M& du wu

did you u\y to him to de? A

Norden) to go to Mr. Reynolds and tell Mr.

maven; I knew it could be discounted 11‘ tlw .
made to me were true. I gave epecific 1mtmtm
should be discounted",

I was sitting at this table where

when Conlon made that statement.

nad tiveu me that note to get it diacountod I a1a llkm
that and I told him I was to be convicted right thm and

there and Mr, Campbell told Mr, Conlon that I would be.

[
X

=? I was soing to sit quiet under that taltm
I was standing pat for him as I Aid for two yoarl. X, m

pat for two vears, I am not a mtyr by pnfc”ﬁ“ !




!u.‘ m-'

Norden, ever pay you, ,coulon. W m

by him from the sale of this note? A M

A
.

for it? Q Ves, A No, air..ho"MVﬂ'm

ot any kind ror anything®.

fied that way to let it go, both lt
*I will be convicted s\u"e",' and I ﬂ
that.,

: N, l I am thirty-seven years ddq

LA York a good many years. I know this il

tunity to tell the truth and say, "I am not gnuti"u

Mr, Conlon brousht me t.ho proceeds of the M“




be _depﬂosited in., I selected tht bm

18th of July., The 32,000 comes from éﬂb&hﬂf

not a similar contract.

which T deposited on the 18th; I had some

which have been miglaid or lost.

against them hoth,; drew &aainat both accounts I"fuf'Qﬁﬁp

Mr., Conlon is in my debt,

I never cave him any bad checks that I. kunw

'



{

ate. I believe I gave Mr, Moﬁthp
was money in the ba.nk.. The bank uamm

These checks were noe paid bom
isainst uncollected funds, I depoattod nauﬁr“'

414 not sive me coredit until they mm”

gotten it a good deal before
not paid that account was in
ot check. The‘se checks were
I paid cash to Mr,
cents for them, T
I know the exact transaction,
I beliewve I understand the mea.ning 6f tmm
honest, I am kind of surprised at your ukins me if uy
transactions with Mr., Conlon were perfoctly ho:wpt GW
actions; they were. I am surprised you lhmld mtm e

honest to me, ' S S e



You moa ISP M.

(kIR

bo hiddon l.l a‘ll.

merely the rreight on those nhint.ln. thb
f'reight,

I think there was only ene lomﬁr
the Van Norden Trust Company. I paid fcr ‘W
note, that was includea in the 91‘)00 it ﬂ. M
transaction, _ ' ‘
sl - Defendant's Bxhibit P is a W# :
what they are; I know what that 1-, it is n

to Mr Martin Conlon Ior the paymont of m

That indicates no money at all,
resented no money at all, The tlboo which Hr.s MM m
me has heen repaid and more than repaid by me to hime

Those payment.e were made from th@ funds m ﬂ

1

placed in my hands. I believe I have told you of these
repayments,
I have not tried to figure it up.

yes Oor no, not kno'ing of pam‘nt. to th. a't‘

this tund., [ saw the checks which yr. mrwd M‘“ i



lon called me up. On the Police Gain't

did say that T called Comlon up; the second

him up.

examination --I Aid call him up. I said so 1
Court and I oay 80 now, |

I don't recollect whether 01' M ;l';
him uia at twolvo o'clock, I believe I d“ ﬂ 8

abont ecommunicating wi th Conlon at thm 0‘ 3

.

tel ephoning me, at three o'clock, or some time M Mm

or'clock,
I believe I remember your asking mﬁ, "When was
the date of thie t.olophono messagze Lhat you sent from IOI'

vaven to Mr. Conlom, I want the dat.o and I want tht Wf



A The hour I'lhﬂdﬁ!;hl&“iﬁﬁf'

member." : T R
I say he called me up about twel
I said in the Police Court that I called

so I meant the second time that I called

3

apoko.aonething about it,

I remember testifying this
teld my lj.vjora in the presence of Mr.
given this money to Mr., }t!o’nloné‘_ i '_
o i) *Did you, at any un,‘”_b‘o‘!‘f
that this money m paid by you to lf :

" Q After you were convicted did you say

that? A To Mr, Sandford®, I don't,m

was the way I answered the question or not.

My lawyers told me not to go upon the stand,

it hecause I am sure of it,
If T said so theré I said something tm was

truthfud; i I told him | may not have understood the qu



front of the bom,* T bel

hétpl.

[ could not state positively, but I hu@*

4:30 or b o'clock from New Nnnon.

& very late hour,

I left New an‘n about 4:30 or
think it was mbout that time. 1 Xrow'
run to New York; that would bring me mu

hulr-pa-t six or peven,

1)

him about that time, about ten o clook I lll~ﬂﬁﬁn_ )
evening from the tige T arrived from New nllin.
The three o cloc message I had with thn

cver the telephone was 'to meet him in the ovea&lg, ‘Q§“:'

had., T told him to whom I had seld it;
the telephone,
The District Attorney did ask m"‘t‘Q;

conversations you had there? A We hnﬁ_dtin‘f



hw diucoumod it with Mr, Atwater ut M.

had received two thousand ddlhro t‘r !t”.-

When I told him in the ovoning, I repeated

him,

tell Oonlon how nuch I pot on the mtt.

\ .

‘anything of the Rind,

posing of some 'oquit.iea which I had in some pi

the proceeds of thias note which I had received,

that, I knew then that this note was nolon.

i



water quiet, :

Mr. Oonloﬁ came to me and tcie me to
equit.y. in some property of which there was e
he knew it and I knew it, -- to take to Mr, M
him quiet on this affair,

I was trying to keep Mr, Atwater gu&qt

)

same reason he was trying to keep me quiet; for
b "71’}

reason that Conlon had to keep me qx‘a'ht;‘ tt

clélv.o‘d. i :
I was not at that time accused of any

not accused in March; T don't thimk I m ac

ing it in March.

I was first accused when I was

Mr, Conlon and I discounted it for him, and I w
the proceeds. He was responsible to me, I kmlm
responsible--

I was responsible by my name being on the

I can give,



sation with stnu ubout M‘ L

last Pall some time. : el

ing it,
I don't think I was charged by
ing that note, An accusation of th'tt nl‘lf

make an h-prennion upon my niud. I hcltlvo wﬁ

it would,

-

I think T can roadily BAY NO,

_ I don't believe I ever saw that lothlr b!!!t’n
to it or not; I don't recollect ever laeina thi&f‘

lore, Mr,., Chanler,

I hwnm recollection of ever v

ver before; I don't remember ever rondilc‘ﬁyuw



that letter;

without my knowing it,

miuute.
I never saw this letter uu&:u. snu

ferred that it must have been taken from my offm

lieve I d4id say that it must have been taken rmﬁ

I never saw that letter before.
I gave up my office in the Pall of 1903, I MIM ;"':‘“

no, it was in the spring of 1903, : :
Mr, A, H, Horton is a co_nt~ractor up on ‘m.

Road, Pleasantville I believe it is..



were not payable tohim were bounu ho att |
to appear --

Mr. Conlon was at my office 6v.ri,

larn, every Saturday. e B
) I gave him money to'so~¢v't't§f
search a title, that I think was $50.; 1 aqwb 
settle a mortgage, or a ta-tator‘s o-tlml.-ib‘
New Haven, something like $80, .

This was all cash. I did not drew any

check--it was too much evidence for him,
But that is only & small part of the money.
Sandford has offered in evidence nineteen checks i
".
pl,035,82, drawn by me Lo various people, or t&;
my own :
Loqorder which I (’&VO to Mr, Conlon out Qt thu_,-
don't know how much they amount 'te, but you Qq?
I diaum. give him the nn or tm

Mr, Conlon did net want my aha‘l.. He 'Qﬁlﬁ ﬁ!J



‘he u»pua the unuu.
There was & ruau w M
eleven checks payable to hio_"crqn,
undvtvp checks in addition vh1ah‘wtra
wae & reason for that, that he had u-do_-itq_i_f
i why he did it, but he always took accounts mt

when he could help it, _ ;

his name off the first cheek omtly.

I don't know why he ullwn to
v;oyon of these, I don't know why ex‘.pt‘
have the money. I could ha.vo made thou ent M
0, Kd them; these were not all eiven durias hﬂlkiﬁﬁ

where he could draw the mgmgy.

I have the stub; I am not sure of that, I think ) ¢ dro' M‘
in my large check book I did, but in the small cheeck W!
don't believe I did.

I don't know whether I have the large . ehooh um
or not; I am not sure whether T have it or not, I m ! “

not sure of that, Mr. Chanler, Ll A .



'bOQk .

wutcd him to prepara it 1or he was tm

me that way and I don't see why he .hmau‘ilr:

At the time I was preparing for the
loi told me that he would prepare my defon'n.v

this time that he had itolm the note.

When he tried te cover it up ror me al

I was entirely in his hands. I thought he would

He told me he testified as writton: UIM
hé told me éo; he told Me., Settell and he told Mr.
so and he told my wife so, T still trudted him,

T did not trust him after I heard him testify om
my trial; as I sat there I did not trust him; I told lr. k%
Cempbell so and Mr., Campbell and I conferred together and M
said, "Ed, you are convicted," and I saia, "I bolim s 4 i
and we did so, I stood pat to protest Rim. &MM#
broken his word with me but everybedy else. ki

.



I was not guilty by the advice of my QM,;',
& counsel to advise me to sit silent when & ly .'
wvas made against me by my friend who was M ‘
I had other remedies; I did allow it for I kmew I
reng;d‘iol. | ,
| I told Mr. Campbell amd X seld Wity ,
told Mr., Glassburg that I had paid this m |
Conlon. In the face of that they toldm “ ﬂ“
was too late for me to do anything, I M.dn‘tyut
fense in, ‘ | 3
I was in no position to put in aidofom. M
would not have believed me alone, I was told to klcp' M
other witness, the man that would corroborate me, every “ﬂ
I .would say, told to keep him away from here by Gonla. w

solutely forbid him in Lhe Police Court and he told me o



he had gone to the farfn in the la.t.to_r_pl.rt_;ﬂ'
I believe it was 1902, He ﬁnt to the fm‘

He did not visit my farm much qﬂbrur
farm. People's Exﬁibit 6 is a pos tal Om of Mr

that was given Lo me by Mr, Cmil‘o'n',‘ !‘bﬁl'

some -time in July, 1902, I thimk. I thimk tt
to him,

This forty doi‘la.r check M ¢tvtu‘tii'
I gave this to pay freight, to pay the fn:lmt ﬂ
zoods which I had shipped down by t.ho Loag Iim
Company &nd the check, as you see, came back "No gM‘ l
then {’;h.Ve him the money to make good the check to tll. m-'
road Company.,

He retained the check;, it was never retm‘mﬁ to
me, I cannot offer an explanation of the othor onc m

I don't know,



somebody else to have it discounted, I did ne
that he had never paid that money over; I dis

the note had not been paid,

because I

tesitified

Mr, Tobin _
that was about six weeks after the time I got £h1l *D£.;ﬁ'

"You were satistied then that Mr, Conlen h‘d Iﬁ‘h
len the procaedu of Lhis note wnd you were tryiaa to .lﬂ.

nim? A Vot right then, ,‘mt

that Mr. Conlon had stolen Lhe proceeds of this note.
Shortly after that, I should say about eight or tem

after, _Boforo the ﬁozo wag dué, ' i ;'w



you '.éut of ‘the hole?

& way that I can ltraiahmn m %

utinu under his advice. I aid ‘not M

th&t note or for six vaelu aﬂ.om tml
stolen", I think I so testified.
Police Court Examination. I dia know who -u‘m

time of the Police court. Emimt.un.

if I.64i4 it must bc 80, »

I didnot know last December m /
stolen the money. I know that that piece Qf
protest.

*Q Who told you it was 'ptoljon? A I
it through myself®, That is what I say now, a
this note was stolen through this telephone, through Mb
Mr, Tobin telephoning to my office and that 15 how I au—
covered it was stolen,

*Q Do you mean that that piec. of paper m »Mﬁ-

en? A So I understood it, yes, air. Q Ymm‘m.



the

'_> ‘ I understood,
I was indicted, so 1 uniurut‘p‘*i 
the Proéood- of that note. The ua,m ‘F 3

ceeds of it; I was referring to. the nobe 1t‘llt.

proceeds-~I know from what his Honor has just told l..

1 thought &all nlong that I was ctuvictud of -tcaltut thll

- bit of paper of $2500 in value. ‘ m‘
That is what ‘I understood all along; M u the

way I understood it and I thimk I am right; thlt Mﬁt #
papor'roproaonto 32500.. it represents two thln.l'&u
that is whet T [ undorstood, yves, sir. !



I first got my information um;
bank account with this two thousand dmm
at my office, No. 9 St. Marks Plase, Vol e
;oived the nomy;

I did not havo any Willa' ‘
this question became involvod. I m M

prob&bly_ a year and a half, I had O“

to his offiece, it :

He represented me in some small matters, M.m
have; I have no recollection °f, it though,; I think h‘m,&
some a@l matters, civil matters,

The farm at Smithtown was purchnod in the name
of Martin Conlom and the oontmt for it m closed u ﬁ'
office of Mr, Brush at aumtwn. the . mt.rut as M
there. Mr. Conlon wis with p, T signed the mtmt %



fore; I Aidn't km, I promd 80; I bdiﬁ‘i

I do rmbor in the !’011“ Gmt
*Do you mean to say that he gave you back W, :
the note? A  Yes, sir, the next day". &

I think I told you that the proceeds

fransaction, -

I kept the stolen goods in the i

kept after him until he told me to keep my mouth

it "Or you will get into trouble about it"; I dm;'t W

the note was Laken from anybody, I assumed it bolm M
nim, )

There was no partnership between me and lr'.""“‘
1 haﬁ a verbal contract with him to furnish a hennery it

Long Island. I was in the contracting business and I neg w.,

verbal contract to furnish the farm for him and I m Bte



al contracts, 'mu man tmwd ‘me tho ‘m ‘

I am & business man; I am & builder m

contracts. I had building contracts ouﬂty‘;“ﬁ!‘

fendant.

I had a contract at 156th -St.rooi‘l-h.‘

Avenue; I built three flats up there on tho
I think it was I finished them,

; Building eontracss have been ﬂ

x fire-proofed a hé.ol, corner of 20%th SM l

Avenue, &« fifteen story building aurm '@“ﬁi--
The people were Maitland T, Graves,

That is two in four vears; I’ ‘“
all over tf\p eity; I had several econtracts., I ¢

tell you just where--just wait a minut..

At the same t.ime. I am telling yon that Wf b
same vear 1 fire-proofed . hotel eorner of c3rd ﬂm ;
and Broadway, the Rogal Arms Apartment House; that m at
the same time, 1902, in the summmer and rnll.

1 worked for the Merrill Construstion
did work for the Merrill c(mutmwtion company .

Mr. Merrill, No, 1 Brosdway; Mr. Merrill hims



I sot @ vcry fuir rébate; thoni"i

you wish them, When I Opomd this uoouat mﬁ‘
it den Trust CO-pmy 31‘)80 was deposited,
i $30 of this belonged to xh me.

.friandl!. very rrienaly. | i

1 accepted the note from him mrﬂ.v“w
commission. I had discounted spme HO“' b’“"‘ ”
dealt in real estate some times, and mude uun M

way, w8 well as in bundinps and contracting bulmnl. e '



binper drew the plans ror 1t.

taining to the h.nnory nxuwt thc m

. , I furnished 1nouhatort,
.t:hom down there,

‘That 1is my sirnature, i gave Iﬁ@;ﬁ
paper whieh vou now hun;l me, ‘r_hut. does uot ;
chiokqns; those go with the 1noub§tqr;. |

1 do not attafh more hlpormn to

gt o than to the stealing of a note, | ‘ 
I felt that I was acuug “ n buw
this $1500 for Mr. conlon, for he hll nb
told me to put it in the bank and as hn
fixing up the farm for him and he oi&d,v?ﬁgﬂi‘ﬁ

come and draw from youv,

That' was the relation, I did not draw
"1 was pgoing to buy this farm for Mr, Conlon,
that { did not, ur. chanlor-.

fidm, Then wasn't any question ot mtharny

that $1500 ror his aceount.



'
|
A
»

1 belisve I made u depoitt !M t

.t.vr,un L. SETTEDLD, mm

ver; my office is at 25 Broad street,_nﬁmwm’“
practicing in the courts of this state I Ihﬂﬁlﬂ

of thirty vears,

for two terms, & period of six years., Refore bdﬁngx

aussocinted tomether in the practice of m j.n em



summed the case up for the defendant,
the trial I had some oonfoi'eneol with wm ‘
gard thereto, These talks were held at tlll

Broud Exchange Building, and we had --

in the month of Septemeber or pctober 1
plt;eod on the door of my office,

1 should say that Mr., conlcn W pre:
views betweeh Mr. Campbell, Mr. m:-m W
eral oceusions and to speeify the nuubar"t'
six to & dozen rimes, more or less,

0, Did.'Mr. conlon voluntarily'atut.p' mrm
fauects ile wouldl testifv to on the trianl of Norden 'M

u8 & witness on behalf of the peoplet A I can't "?

these interviews mr, Conlon made certain statements W -
specting the facts of the case s presented hqum; ﬂn;j.,

ubrden in the indietment,

”



regurd to that cese. As I roou.‘l Wﬁe

where the maker, 1 bolie&.m rosidod.

He was to uscertsin if the note were

the note had been offered about the straet for Ml N

Mr. _eecher --Lhut there were a good many papers out M

ported to him that ine note, that many notes were in the
hank up there, and therre would be diffieculty in d&lpottnqiv
of the note in Nawlnaven. ‘
Subse juently Mr. COnlon stated - thut. he m been
approached by Mr, Norden for his conponuutm. for I m

turn of the morey that he hadi expended up there, _“‘ i



’ puage, that Mr, Norden was to--that t.mu. N

of what he was to do,

B to me; he said it in the prounn ofuh

Norden,

duced it --

& typewritten copy of the manu script that I had pmpm‘k
1 believe paople's Bxhibit 23 to be the typmittm SW ‘

. eript that wmr, Glunburg made, as I have ent«tﬂlm



had written this out on the t.ypmi

It 48 m v recolleetion W

said, "That is all right".

Now I desire to Q‘!d thic.lin POY
hecause I think it was said: I think that
asked Mr. Conlon to s‘ign that paper and W’
would not sign it., He may hmt"a' made some
T would not want to ohuraef,oriz."htl.if ore
' o A

I do recolleet that Mr, gonlon reft
it or put his name to it. ] made eu'm n
conlon respecting hié testimony. IMM :
vary apparent contradictions. Lt

I said that the statement naon.‘m _
1ts fuce as to the giving of the note to "r.f' IDM
to me it was doubtful if a jury would helieve it.' J |

lje said those were the facts, He said, 'tm
what I will swear to; those are ‘the fnetl'. H‘ WM,
would r,esv.ifs; LO Lhat statement, in gqeordqmc. Vl‘&hw
statement.  | i

I made the remark in substance I:Mt‘
uble, that no jury would believe that, Mm



I said to him that this money weas |
Norden and that some person must have

- ‘

That it seemed to me that the jury |

Now, that, in substance, was my w
conlon, and I believe that I said it for thc

ting &t the truth of the matter,

Mr, conlon would invariably snywihﬂb,
. the facts and all he remembered of it. Thlm tl wha
.would'tastify to before the jury i{viallﬂﬁ‘Ql“
the People, ) ‘ | :
1 said to Mr. Conlon that I nhoushﬁ't _
should rmise the money and settls 1£ resnoru the wor
‘ the gentleman to whom it belonged.
~ wouldn't give & cent
. He sgid he

him that he promised
pay the whole amount of it; 1 did not say r.hut..» 1 did am
knd' that,

1 ' It is not "probable* that should be.

\



W

‘have been a week before, but a rcw,d-ilﬂﬁriﬂf

can it harm mev,

g

He invarimble suid that; wonm! ﬁk in o

oceus ions. When nobody ‘said he got it ho tnlﬂ

I did have & conversation‘wifh‘tﬁ.‘
lon in regard to the testimOny that he hhd-si
Grand Jury. My recolleetion is thnt a duy or¥upp
Mr. Norden's trial came off, that 1. ny:fib~

raefore Mr. Norden's trial was 30'b07 “

were in one corner of the offiece, in the outer Offiﬂt

ing by ourselves,

my duty to tell vou that as I remember my to.ttlnnﬁ



Pense inadmissible. I said that we hul tm
altogether upon a wrong thnory.

I observed that we would m w

see how it could be met,

He llld. some observation, t.o m .

which I have not recalled up o within a few hours ago; v
got the impression --

| My recolleetion is that Mr, Conlon, as & qﬁw‘-
clusion of that interview, assured me, or made the sta

that the writ.ten statoment was roully the .‘O, m ]

of what his t.eotimony would be on nmou'q N'M



time in the month of Oetober,
note from mmpboil.

I had & conversation at that v

gentlemen, Mr. luuburs. Mr. nomn. m', cﬂ
present, beginning with the 1ntroduotim»¢!‘___

the offrice,

Norden muy have stated --The ltutmnt m M‘
in eonnect 1on with what his tostimnr m!.d hﬂ
wi;;h what Mr. Norden's testimony muld bo.

At that time he supposed he would be & vnuﬁu
I would not say bhut that such & converﬁution '--thnt“ hl H
have stated what became of the prooom in all or m Cl'
these interviews; it is & mutter that I would not mt tﬂ

7

meke & statement xRmx to be relied upon.,



Norden sat next, MF. Conlon was on the wltaq

recess nnd was concluded after. rl«ll.

CROSS EXAMINATION: .

raiding this money and not doinz vu'im

never gotten a cent out of th;t; note.

Not eonstantly but fre luentl\l. He did 80 fruqu&m
I do not reckll that Norden was ;\POMVM ”

made that statement, T do not recull thﬂt he stsM h

that note to Conlon, I «do not recall the fact MW‘ ;7;‘
worden cver made that statement in Mr, conlon's pmv.

Mr. Conlon denied }1uving|)r§601voa the _’ '
‘the note; I ﬁnaw that he doMed that., sy



Jury relating to Mr. Conlon's toshimny, the
poenaed, 1 think.,

1 was not aware that conlon had tes

the Poliee Court; I was never present at W

’

ations, v
1 asked for and requested the' r
minutes, but Mr, Norden was unuble to proom *“
and thev were never had in theé prapurwzidn OI m
I never kinew what the testimony wes thdM MW

recollection is that it never came up at any of our .'l.m'

views or discussions of what would beée the dof.nl.'. ;

cussions, Mr. campbell was the gentleman who appear -7“ ﬂ!

Mr'. NMordén in the Police Court,



no proeeads of thtn note.

I was vu,'a"Mh‘_"J

to me, 1 knew thut he sc stated that he never v‘ﬂ‘l‘l’ t&ﬂ

proceeds of that note, and that he had givcn chn n¢tﬁ tﬂ

MF. Norden ro do with s he plenaea.



I muy deserve critiocism,

eritic 1m.

ing to Norden that Cconlon's testimony in

~ ' was fuavorable to him,

‘\".
i

riwy .hbe able to recall it,
1 don't recall that Mr, Norden evw-_m'ﬂm

: repark; in Mr. Conlon's presence; he may lm M Wm

Honor, but I don't roaull thﬂ.g I EPM twm

unnt.na whm 1 was um tm m‘iuﬁﬁm




xind, that he had never got i @

upon my mind, & strong.

‘plication even, to mialu\d Woﬁ.

1y that sueh & remark was made by ﬂr.
presence, but that remark was made hr‘l‘h'g»»r

in my presence,

we expectod to put Mr, ‘iordon on the 'i
him as & wif.nesa in his own»behl\:u'» l& “.

lection thut it. was not until conlm m

ment. was never taken down in writing and lhlt h. m’
tify to was not specifically discussed 1n my pro.em ex"'
cept this --

I certainly do not mean to tell you that me.



pbut I will say this t.hat, as & lmor, x,

the case in &ll its branches; I never m‘

cile the facts on one side with the rutt ﬂ’(

We being Lopether the ﬁroubh“
lon's statement to writing --none of the other witi

were reduced to writing I presume, because ur. w

not deear it necessary,

ir 1 testified that I did not know what Rﬁr‘.ﬁ‘?
was poing to testify to, I withdraw it; I disclm m ‘
stutement, becauser know that I should know battor than
make that statement here; I did know vmat Mr. sorm
to be the facts which justified him in dofam WM o

his case, I nssume that I knew theam,



trial; it may hAvo.baoh a ndulurubli-v;
sa
I can only say that my own vicwi'
ware that it didn't make any difference wo
den's c'ﬁ‘se went,
I always looxed upon that u n
cufrerence be tween rhese two gmtlmu.

~point of the questi@n.

‘operations were at that time, qxoapt thut,

fHi7, ~ did testify on the s tana that h!‘mngM'

turn to him the proceeds of that note, I uﬂﬁ

"1 considered that whether he hud thtyn

T
Lt

4

not it Aid not.affeet the defencé of Norden if his
tion was right --according to my grasp of ‘t;_ho low ,WC
in the case, That is my atiitude,

I had & number of consultations wit;h W-Mﬁi

‘he was opposed? Mr, conlon -- L@t me have the q
I cmanot ‘curry all these in my mind; what is the



that he had & right to dispoue of the p:'MW’ﬂ

fir; I don't know as Mr, @onloh was decided ﬂl‘; v
one way or the other,

Sinece this mutter came up I have heard of am,
named Alnin;:er. Mr. Norden said that Mr. Albingcr WaS & ==
1 saw Mr, Albinger before this trial, before the trial at
Norden's case, 1 did not teke down his statmnt or W
it tafjen down, ! o

Mr. cmbell and I had orfieo“.‘ tago‘eho‘i‘.ﬁW;

recollection is that Mr., Conlon's neme waus on the door |



L i

Norden was i.nwumm

case, that Norden was overwhnlmna witn

had reoeived the proceeds of thﬂt

neotion with this -- allow me tb ii§b¢.

want the privilepge of stating what Mr. Norden did m.m

cver,

charged with, I didn t tell htn he was on t

Pl



' prooeeda of or hypothoou&‘in‘g tho
| to him, ' |

1 explained to him t.htt tM :
whiceh was wlleged had been given ‘-wh.N '

alleped that the note, which was in hds y

1 never told him he was ohhrgpi ’M _h_

of the note, Mr. Albinger did not nuggtik his b

of his testimony on the trial., I think he inmuired if W

weeks, for two or three weeks before it did cm *



1 was surprised at t.hlt. ;om;iw

Wi

wherein he said that he diéqog.‘ Mr. m

I remember that Mr. Conlon omn"‘
recess and after 1. ooufrontod him with th‘
piven in-the Policc court. :

That was «fter I read to tm ﬂlns‘
answers made by him in the Police court‘inl’
they ware true,

B "

) In the Police Court he had huiatld

sald he would make it appear, by'hia tastimony,~thnlwiQf
w 7ift of that note to Norden, Let me have the question .

-t ugain,

made & pift of that note to yorden; that is my best

lo'ot.ion ot“ it.



vorden had paid the money to cm}w.

rt was not contempluted that

I said Mr. cumpbell crosn exuaimd um.
Whe ther the record is one "V or iﬁﬁ
ainlv did not ecross examine him, ur. ﬁ!ﬂ.hiﬁﬁ
ined him, I should so swear until I was
probr that would be overwhelming.
The stenographer may have made a misteke,
nppeal to Mr. Sandford; lie ourht to know; I did not do 1ti‘

v am very sure of it,

i v \

I swamed the case up bhut I aﬁ almost Pa‘ift§bi '
vour Honor, that I did not eross examine Mr, 0&a§b@; 1 hﬁu
think Mr. Conlon will say that 1 did; Mr. C"Pb‘it'¢fﬁﬂi¢

examined him,



‘88t in how the case should he owﬂ‘l
*Q Wait until I put ny maltion. You 0

.til vou hear it, Is it not a fact that nnlf

the defense, and nmt. was the jquestion ndm'.

atbpage 34’ ¥Mr. Conlon, at tm-ym that

A 1 did.* Now, I wsk vou if t.Mt is aoe l‘vﬁ_
put by vou, counsel for the dofondo. upoa

ution of (‘onlon upon the trial of lm

exaine witnesses,
*Q When thev are spenking the ;ruth! A ‘ih;‘iﬂ‘
1 don't mnderstand the' mestion *Do vou thtnk 1t lt a bﬂl

thing to eross examine w perjurert® I ctn mmr f 3 4 tf &t

made clear to me,




ceeds, but he seemed

helieved that testimonv that it would rwul m
tal, :
1 would not ;0 us far a8 to suy‘tmlc i.f t
set, orden out of this trouble on the theory that ocm.lm
had civen him the note C"nlc\n'wc\;ld bhe fres’froni W 0
1 ‘would be very loath to make that M. !

I think I ought not to make any sueh remarks evm u 1



shield Conlon,
: . I was not enguged bithar'&ir,
or in the most remote mnnﬁor, in any
spirucy tonsand Norden away sand eok‘

I most assuredly want to gc:bn
that; I would not take any sueh poniﬁionu
unintentionally.

It could all be explained if 1 could state

norden said to me.

“RANK K. ALBIFGER, awitness for the

naing duly sworn, testified ms followsg

I live at 894 Ewgle Avenue in the ;r““

thirty vears.



s

uny conversation bhetween the dofohﬂdht;‘

Mr. Ispell, We went to —--1 don't rememher ths othor

known him sbout the same time,
buring the swmmer of 1902;

Marks Place with Mr., worden. I was éna'

yorden; that was about the middlc of July.

'Hilvon .

J. Norden, in regard to the obj@ct of W

wew .aven,

in New paven, in the hands of Mr, Norden,

in Wew Haven in the hands of Mr, Norden on. that

I saw Mr, Atwater there, I lnw’ur.-ShOho

names., We have been in severa) orfioas. We ware in cam.ﬂwk

offices there,

count ?hil noto. Thcn My o=~



‘g 4

said, "ell. this note is Mr. |ooonor's *—_,
Mr. ,eecher's notes are very well pe

wew paven, but I will disecount.

I think two thousand dollars wi

payment for the note. Mr, Norden said I

Haven,

he oxpevts a call.

was called tc the telephone,
He went to the telephone hooth; he went into -the

booth and he léft the door open, I was standing by the b&oﬂ

I eould hear what Mr, Norden said, Well, all I X@G‘»ﬂh“.

that, i, Hordks said, "Well, then, I wceept the two thous=

and, *



to Mr. Atwater's piaco of business,

Mr., Atwater wrote out & cheek and

bénk: he sent 2 clerk to the bank For the m

minutes, the clerk came back with tm m
A.twutaxj and. .he counted dt,xt two thdum Ac
asked Mr, Norden to endorse the note.
_ * The w_ordé *Edwin J. Nom‘h‘u'.*_‘ »
baek of t,hii ﬁote People's Exhi'pit 4,
ment that Mr. Norden put on the note.
Mr. yror:d_en did not keep the

office, and there was Mr., Shea, and then Mr., N

seventy dollars,

ant, h salcon or & restaurant.

what Lhey h«d, some beverage. ﬂr. Im;.‘

twenty dollar bill in the ulm




he made an appointment by the first ahliiF

ment to ring up Mr} conlon, in No., § St.

go, and 1 heard Mr. Norden say, 'Thut !11% hﬂf
then, 1 will meet vou at the Grand Uninn aomw

Mr, Norden was through 1 spoke ovér-the~phoqa to

supper with Mr, conlon,.

That was Mr. William Horwitaz; he was ﬂ _@ﬁﬁ‘

.y
. it



Grand Union Hotel. Then Mr, Horden aountnéi

keep it with me over nipht 1 have got to Bo #b"

pay, to Kenwood® where he was stopping with‘mo.

i

He was stopping with me over thero.

1mwh

office at 9 st, Uarks pluce the next day,



was thoré, Mr. conlon was pPOllnt,

then Mr. nordon Savs, 'Thut is tha runt

in his namev; it wus for his rent,
Mr. conlon wrote afterwards cu@”v

order of Harry M. Newingtonj, pr. conlonf.*':‘l._

certain reasons that he don't want to
neme in the bank. .

Mr. Norden snys. “ves", if hn

ne should pay all expenses for the farm, ‘rho f&ﬁﬁ

Island, Smithtown, ‘
| went to the office of Messrs. Settell & Q'

1 went there hefore and 1 was tHere after Mr. norg.n{paQ?%‘

rest, _
Ar't..or Mr.. Morden was a-rested I was m m

Norden culled me to be & witness in the npouinl Qntaitﬁb>

no, in the Tombs Police Court,



Mr. Conlon.

-~
-
to the convietion of Mr. Norden, I had & conve
with Mr, Conlon in regard to this cuse,
o

will come on,; to the office of lr. Ollllibi‘ Lo

I went to the office of Mr. W‘



Thursday, " because it was f:lul m ﬁ
day, when I was in the office, R R

Mr. Conlon iold_m, "He is-
*How is this*; and Mr. Conlon nﬂ mu, ﬂ
newspaper, the Sun, and I read this mr.
lon said, "Mrs. Norden was just here uM !

coing to squeal, but if he squeuls, Lhen I

court, and tf they do me then I will mnko t"'l th ﬁ
the tesgrimony that r,here' will be 4 case of o}onw:lmywjj“
gou and wll who have heen in the office of‘ur. or&mh

There was & conspiracy ubout this note, ﬁ. m
he is a lawyver, and he will know what. to do, and M lﬂ,l
form his testimony so that there will come & oomiw :
agninst us all ‘who has been in the orﬁ,u of ur. N ‘

conspirhov for stenlinp thio note.



I said, *ves*; *Did vou see Norden gﬁ- f

in New Haven, fhis was u few days aﬂew m
counted., 1 eould not lix‘tha‘f,‘imagmy be‘fm“.v

Mr., c‘oulon said has tO be--: don't
exuct wnount., 'Am ut $150 has to be paid 1n New M M
some money whieh MY, conlon sollested and did not. tm
over to the owner", or something liko that ,

L

this amount to the elerk of the court in New Hmﬂ. M x

went down town with Mr. Norden to the Aduns mx*m
in Grand strent. the Adwnus or mridm latpm-

and here Mr. ¥orden took out #n cxpr“s Wr‘



worden's bhank, the

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I have a good memory. I dbn'."i.

any more, but most of it., That is Qh-;
about thé 17t;h day of .Tuiy .t.hl.t. Mr, NO!‘M
vew jjaven,

He did notv endorse this order for ‘\
wrote oh the haek, "Puy to the order of

e wrote those words on it, the Mrdml'

e counted, in the afternoon, at thmom
‘ office No. © St. Marks Pluce. 1 'g'\.tol‘é w ‘Nor
yif 1 saw him sign it,
: h I would say tco, |
hundv;ritihg. Mr. Norden was in the office, in
office. i | ‘
I was not in the Police Court whén ﬂr. mm

whas bLeing examined in the case of Morden; it was the om"

.. about the forged check, 1 was seént awky when he was bM;

»

cxamined in tLhe case of Norden, I was sent mr, ! m "
‘here, but they sent me away, hefore Mr. ROMMI‘C em
on.

I saw Conlon in the Polide Couwrt, om



was culled ns a witness,

Ilum talking about the ou@lqﬁi

ik

case in whieh Mr, Norden wu.-oonviit-c;GtQ

note; that is the only thing why Mr. Norden

‘against Norden; I did not, When we w.at &a‘udw §

there at seven o'elock in the norning.
}[. | 1 may hava made & mintako when t!ctif?&ﬂ*
| Police Court; I ramember,te.tifying.;horo. 1 was
wneﬁ I snid that®I got to New Haven sbout ton‘owolphi;} V
1 was there about three hours®,

I remember the question beiné put‘to me, iuhﬁhp;f 
Police Court"q "Vvou werae in New Haven how 1ong'b&td$§;#§ﬁ"
had this conversation over Lhé telephone with ur.mﬁ§h% ‘

j was under onth at that time,

When we got to New Huven we had --1 5““‘

we did go to Mr, Isbell.s offiee, but it wes Q;ggujw




U

not open,

and I went,

I can only say it was about oifsﬂi'w
eight o'eloek in the morning.
about six; I know it wus enrly :lu tm

1 remember now we were '1"

offieces, and Mr.

Isbe‘l‘l"n office wus ﬂolll i

not sure; I didn't po in the offices; 1 wuitod mtﬁﬂ‘#’
I only remember two offices where I vmnt 1:1. i

I talked to nobody. I did not say
cause I don't romember., We went o 'Ol‘f. m ,
forenoon or afterncon, mayba it wus 15 w‘f
west Haven to 100k at some 10“. u o

minutel in the troll.ev to go to M'



1 went Aown to Mesgrs. cwbn‘il“ "
office on Wednesday, that was t.h; next m e
den Qns tried, and then I went down on & '
1 have talked to Mr, Norden's Ly

‘testimony 1 could give in the cuse; I told ﬁ'

and I puess X% wax that is all, Mr,
berg, 1 saw Mr. Settell there; I d'o'n't;w.‘

to him or not.,

trial,

Knew,

sent &wﬁv; the first time the triul was ”t _m
and I- cume Wednesday to the ottiat.
and we spoke all over it, and I M‘

and the nex\ day =1 saw .u

o



Settell end Mr. glassberg, I
conlon was in the ofrin wt that MQA :

1 came to the trial bw. it m.

ad journed, Then I watnhod the ﬂnuowrr

Sunday I didn’t read the Times, and th. lm

when the trial would be, and I heard that !ll'

convicted already.
well, Mr Norden, on 'odnal’w. I m
don't want you. We have snother dcfm." m

I was in the court. Mr, Nomn mtﬂ,

know the date, when Mr. Norden was tried, ﬂx
office the day before, that ia Thursday, on I.'
ma_vbe it was two cl&ys before.,

Mr. Conlon prevented my testifying for norm b
he did now prevent me, but he said I'oho'uld' keep W, “4
he will look out for Norden, that nothing will happen to .
him; he told me to keep away; Mr, norden Mf n%

I was very friendly with Mr. Norden. ll’*c
4id not live with me; he was oul.y eight or nine mp m,

house during the hott Lest time, boouun I had l ‘ﬂttm

‘



would do for every other m.
The sume what I would do for y
4 I would do for any other man. Mr, con10h -

away, Mr, Conlon confessed that he oto&. thu

conlon sa&aid, "I will fix everything all right."

He did not say it just in those words, but I

troublo. and you will not have any srouhlo'o



lmo. 'lon, 1 dea't. mu “ p_

I can prnvont. ic,*

At the request of the man who

thief I staved away from the trial of the

that nothing will happen tc Norden um 1‘;‘
be detrimentsl to him thet 3 weald' m.; ‘_

criu. I only seid that I was told to pm W, mﬁ
known the triul is on, but. aonm.ntully I m'm
Times on Sunday, and I was not at the tfll m m
The lawyers told me that the defense m m
chemged,' and I was not wanted as a witness; that u W.
I didn't want to keep away; they all told me I lho\ﬂ,l w
s UWHY.  AB soon a8 1 did know that Mr. Norden m
1. went right to the Distriect Attorney and I told. Mp tM

whole truth, as it was,
I told Mr. Campbell &ll this t.ut.imnv M %
. gavo. Mr. o-npbcn knows that 1 knew the mm m



L
of ﬁordon; 1 told Mr. Gl

testified to to-Aay.

J did not know Mr.,
ra " ana rt) this. moment on, Mr, Oomiow m

f'ice of Mr., Sétteil and Mr. Campbell,

’

Police Court, '

1 was not present the very' same nmnt M”. i
Norden received from Mr. (‘onlon the $1500 %o p\u in m
ran Norden Trust Company, but Mr. Norden oul..‘l..d ” M m
private office, and he; says "] have to 80 W""‘""

Mr. Conlon was there. Mr, Nomn e-n.m m h 4

go away. Mr. Conlon gave me t.h:u m.aoa t-m}-‘g‘
s @ bank account for him. I m.pnom t.c

.



‘know; I do not remember; if I ".»n‘t lﬁhﬂﬁ
say 80; if I was asked it I did,

1 saw Mr, Norden ovory dn:

‘have been to see Mr. Norden in ﬁﬁ.‘

about the tiinl £oo,

TOombs . I
one word,

sick.,

this time
tractor,

but no big new mum; 1 made plans m



make this 8o ridiculous, & chieken

plan, I had to draw several plans, ==

does, and submitted his plans and I had lo

plans; he got some little contracts, small ¢

own aceord,

-

I did considerable work for myself. My o

I drew plans for a chicken house and fo a’starm‘w‘f “
1018t gtreat. and Pirst Avenue for Mr. Norden, s |

You didn't ask any further; yc;u nt.oppoi, M“;
went right away Lo something else, I have nét MM‘
timony over in the Police Court, You did not Om'm*‘"

ment that you asked me tho qunum M you m



dollars they were &s from from me m m'm
bar to the other; ubout fifteen or t!ulvn

I did not hear what t.hcy nu

conversation that Mr, Shea asked U!'o

dollars; that is what I said before, Then they

off together, : SR

they started the conversation --Shea .M MIM
money, 1 puess it was t-;wentﬁr dollars. ‘ » ‘
M f repest thist T have mot eedn e U of my tey=
timony in the Police Court, o A 6

We ontered the saloon and had some drtnks--rm
someé dArinks and then Mr, Shea usl’md Mr, nord§n memw

dollars,

had some dewlings with ur. Shes. 'v-n. 1 'huu- wn



tell Mr. Conlon how much he got for the 'm ﬁ
S

s. 1\?‘1‘.1“

was dinoh-rgod. 1 made nnuuum M&a _

missed; that is right. The Criminal con_n mm
collection Agency. I don't think that mnﬂ‘.. Mm l
Rushmore were counsel for the ompluimt.

Well, we have been ord trionda and ﬂ‘. m'l
w0rd was law for me, and I have no doubt thnt. if nﬂ‘. !
said Mr, Norden will be ull right, that it 'In b‘ lil. &* : |
1 do what Mr, Conlon says. conlon acted s my M’w

He gave me several ulvun, he mever

court. ohly onee, but if ! M lﬂlthm to ﬂ



CARRIE

duly sworn, testified as tonmn

I am the wife of Edwin J’.

married eleven yvears. 1 live at 108

I was here on the afternoon qt{

of Docenbér, 1903, when ﬁr, qu

a nd spoke to you after t.hnt.. t.hu

evening. = Y

Norden was convieted tM‘ m

I think it was later then & quarter to 'ﬂmv"

came in. I was not up in your room; it was o
and Mr. Glassberg was there, A

Well, vou were very busy undl made an

ment, wich'yon for the next day. I did not mﬁﬁ

- of Mr. Campbell and Mr. Settell the next mor

the Tombs to visit my husband in the mrnm; ﬂ



-

He says, "What do you intend to M'

Mr, Settell, and Mr. conlon spoke
Swas Mr. Nordan fscnue. und; 1 M

position and see how you would ful*"‘

what---"

Mr. Norden+s position; I onys, *You p

Norden intend to do?" I says, "I don't unéVR@‘
"Well, do vou Lhink he is going to Sque-lv' i
don't know what he 15 going to do*, He luvi. ﬁl‘ll, #;i

are forgeries», |
He says, "I am able bodied lawyer and I will



At that time I dl‘ IhU 30
'ba.nd wes us innocent as & babe, Mr,
reply.’ He said, "Who got all tMumyt
and 1 says, "you knew who got every dollar
and three times &s much." He didn't m

I did not at Lhat time meke W
c_ert_a:l.n receipted bill.a. He said I MOM'
me that he knew positively Mr, Norden 'm "

sentence i PORCR

there was & gentleman came
who was there; he said Mr,
I did not need to ---
Some one came to the house u\d I -pm to 'th‘l&
some one and that some one went away, Then, about fi“‘

minutes after Mr, gonlon came himself, and m mn. m

hear about something®, he says, "what has been m% i

*I] don't know¥; he says, "Have you been Lo the mm



been to the Distriet Attorney™, and I M¢ 3’

yvou ecan pay for these things, and Mr. Norden ga"v"‘ MA re.
ceipted hills for the several things, he promi‘nng he m*
pay Mr, Norden with what money Hhe recoivod.

These were things that llr. Nor“n had btmsht Ill
sent to that farm and for whieh Mr. Nom m ltubl.@ 3
pefendant's lxhibits [ und ¥ are two of these bills. :
These regeipted bills, the dorondtnt conlon m.lM M

wr'e Norden without paving him a cent for th‘. on tll. w\ ;



mortgage .
CROSS EXAMINATION:
I went to the pistriet Attorney

ber 22, 1903. My husband wes oonvtem “ 3

my husband in the Tombs, I called to mw
Tombs at ho.lf past t.on. to a qulrur m
hour. 1 was there from half p&ﬂ»‘m‘

I did not nuur. mm‘
lon was conversing with me he n.ld m m :

money gone tove

money was, 1 said, "Every dollar of thnt; m’ lﬂ

’

Mr. conlon got.

WILLIAM HORWITZ, awitness for the peopls,
being duly sworn, testified as follows:

I live at 25 West 114th Street. 3 mr m

summer of 1902; I was the greater wt of the mm

Mr, Norden at Wo. 9 St.. Marks !'1.“.



Albinger went to New n‘m. 1 m W
St. rarks Pluco on that day; I 'm ur.
day, |

Mr. Conlon came there u-m :
waiting till a certain hour.-x ﬂbn't r

more. but it was around tnlvo o'clmr

Mr. conlon was ,t.hrough.

Later in the dasr Mr, cosnopm
phone massage from Mr. Morden, 'bll;

ly satisfied with it,
I was in the office the noxt»m'. mm

ufter, The day after Mr. Norden was in New m"

L e

lon was in the office, and Mr., Norden W'“‘"ﬁ"‘k |



conlon was in Mr. Hord.noa private afﬁtpﬁ
to give that money to Mr. NOrdon. ho llﬂi‘
to mMr. Conlon.* :

I did so; $150. That m
Ebare duts] B 18th of ke
before;
marked .
and ur. g
whether he was there at the time I lﬁowtﬂ ﬁfu

postal card,

two dayvs later; I don't remember that,
und he sqid,"?or God's sumke don't pive me dun!
want t£0 8«6 him at &all,"

When 1 showad Mr. COnlon that he lﬂt‘;
God's suke don't pgive me away., I don't ms tp ﬂh

CROSS RXAMINATION:



EMANUBL LEHMAN, a witness for
being duly sworn, testified as fm
I live at 108 Eust 124th Street,

speculator, 1 am no relation whatever to K

after Hvs. Norden. I am not &’ wrfm

numher of oonv.rsntiono with Mm't.in Ci

prooam of that note,

He stated that he had réuiv«l m

dates, but it was in the faull of the yvear 1902, He M
that the money was turned over o h:un, and that tho pmtm
were to opan a farm at Long Island, & chiotm fm

The plans were being drwn at that time by hr. A;l«-
binger, 1 don't remember --I have never seen Mﬂ m

Norden.s convietion’ Prior to Norden,s omuth I m'



victed except in the court room here; ;i
to him; that 13 true.

conlon. I ramnber whnt C ull_M‘

viction. 1 have not seen Mr. UOnlon Lo sbﬂt l§
When 1 say I haven't seen him I mean M ¢ & m
not have any conversation with him; no oonmsqt!an"ﬁ'w,
him, | .
vije said if Norden mueuled he would show mw
whole lot up; I was included in thnt.. he called m by W
and I said to him, *There is no one that can m‘

about me at sll*. I don't m that, but I mu%‘-w



Corlon minoe thht (iMe.
1 was present at o
Norden and Conlon, the day @f‘ﬁr ‘
Mr. pampbell's office.

Mrs. Norden and I liaft. the

to inelude m';‘l then asked hlll WI ‘
mean to inelude me"; he says, ."{.n. umm&h

x'aays,l "There is no one ocan saa; any thiz
me, because I have never dono' anything wrong."
the entire thing.

He also said --I am refreshing my M

sontenco would bo suspended on Mr. ltordon.
: | I paid no attention to that but oame ¢
in faet he had said it up in the housa, the e



tlXing to Nr. Norden. It Was in the

convietion, Mrs. Norden i.l‘thiric

at Mrs. Norden's house thqn.

marriage, that is all, 1 huvo'liqu*
house, steadily sbout shreo'yeuru. 
and so forth, i ;

Conlon was at the house thi‘nishi”di:
vietion, not the night after; the night of'hai

after he was convicted,

LEWIS RAPPOTILT, awitness for the People, b

duly sworn, testified as:follows:

in the month of gctober, 1903, T wks detailed in the



court downstairs, when Mr., worden wui‘qh
on the charge against him,: e
| The.derendant conlon was hh;ra‘dtl
saw you there. 1 saw the ﬁafondant, dﬁnlﬂu
togethof; they were
time, 'ﬁrtor awhile.
'Aftor you
1 sopurutcd ¢onlon and Norden, 'hﬁn 1 l;!f
thut purpoao I heard conlon say somothins mn
turned arOund, on the hridge and he 1odi§&.ﬁﬁ1 “
said, "What are vou doing h&re?' And Norﬂ.n‘dﬁdﬁfﬁﬁ:
and so he stepped from the bridpge.

That is the bridpge in the court; in th.[‘l

with Norden, in the presence of Jr. Stern, ““‘3§‘*”"'3'

Q!'I. g : ) "‘f'(‘"‘.,




arrested Cconlon,
was arrested; the cnse ngaimt~00§lon;
I reamily don't know if it u'ou

1 don't know from what it arose. Vou MM
men's counsel at that time, ' _
| 1 urrested coxxion upon the ow
for stealing the peecher note Mtw four

i that.
'

uary; 1 have heern here three or rour moncha. and I mt M
to connecticut for two years, and I came back mmym
three pears ago last January,

)

1 first saw people's Exhibit 4 V»m uw




effiop,_nbﬂ&i seven or
V enve 10P..

goforo 1 Maeim tm

versation with Mr. Ensign. ' I hmu

bimprest men there, f‘im\nciuly.-._

- JRRE He said that he had un.t

notesg, #and wanted to know---ho tﬂ‘.
could have them diseounted in comutiout.
I told him that I did not thtnk that Hr.
was putting out his notes in New vork, and that I M‘. m
helieve that there were any such notes in n“ wa M
) the time I diad not,
o

sald so himself,

I told him if I took ﬂu mu’



chcr in connnozteu&. to

ture was plnnlno.

want to send anvhody up to conn.ottcut,bdfl

He agreed to that, that boﬂu‘. I,

gonnecticut to Mr., Reecher, to get his mm, 0
cpinion a8 to whether they wem.lr',enuin_c or not, ;
Mr, Ensign called around & number of t&ﬁ’i; gﬁ‘l
he never brought the note, but one nipght uh.n»;;x wtm
to the office --All this conversation I am tan*
bhaefore the note was left in my office. L
This note -- 1 don't recgllécﬁ,thq-

Aot back to my office I found on my desk in an er



Park Avenue 1 met Mr. Norflﬁn. who was eom:
roing down, 1 stopped him, and !'snig, ﬁhﬁﬁ*"
to do to-morrow?" He savs, "Nothi.,nfi! in

1 have knovm Mr. uom, G
years, he h.ud been doing work fot ~;3 
office; he was quite & handy men, and M’:‘ “

and had conlidnrnblo #bility, I M

to senrch titlon; he came in around,th‘ Offlﬁﬁg

7ot mcguainted with him -- | o

to bo, s far as I knew, u.reliablo ﬁprigh&.!‘ﬁﬁjg n




~ that he brought to. me, and he br

lien oause, and a number otvcu“;"'ﬁuﬁ'

it. _
him what he was doing the next day and m e
in particulare; I asked him if he would»-&,f

this note, and asked him if he would 7o to

er lived, gave' him direotmns_ as to how he g
and to ask Mr, Beecher if the note was v-&&
was his, if the signature wes Mr. D&l'hh'l.
was given for value, and he suid mmum

The next night he met me on 124th 51 |
me, =--will I go on? I left him with th.‘ m’“} t
f.he note. The next night we met at 124th smot. e “

Mr. Norden told me he had been to M M,
met the next night and he told me he had been to,lﬂ?‘w
presentod the note t¢ Mr. Reecher, and Mr., Zeecher M it
was & genuinkg note, and piven for value,

I told him that -- 1 asked him if h. M mt
to 40, -- not the next day- == but the day folmm

day, and he said he had not; "“Well®,



first on vcm-m uud »n
to see Mr, Bnlign.

that ncte other than the commission,

Now, I got the note from Mr. Noi‘"'

and have ahy 1uoation about it*; I s«rn

rram vou if this note haa efer been uroup‘ qu

proluntod to anybody in Conneetisut up to th&l &pun'J
He said it had not. I says, "Now, has this m
been hawked wbout?" He says, "No*; I says, "If it hul hliﬁﬁ
kuwkER xhEux I don't want to send & man up there on u,fodlihr
errand." He said it hud not, |
I then said, "Well, mow, if this note hus been
hawked about, and I am put to any troubio or cxpanl‘ in
reference to it, I will tear the note up, or I will stvo 1&

away, you will never pget it back again. So don't pa&,u»

y to that trouble." “Now", he says, “the not-‘tifqmlf



and ten per cent taken out and divided

and mvself,

again, uptown., Will I go r-ight ori?

with this note, and if vou fake 1t'u',

will have, or there is, ten per cent
you ean teuke the half that I am mtitlod w.

note throuph." I[le says, 'All right»,

take my half; 1 didn't wang mvthing, for y ¢ mn't sotnq l‘
d0 any work with reference to the note; at that tm h‘.
Norden was to do the work, -

Mr. Norden, lI believe, told that 1 gave nm &
letter of introduotion v bhinh. Lo uat‘t.h,u A."“ o

or somsthing 1ike that.: N mxm hed said he had



one wuas disposed of,
. torily, the other $7,500 would bo pro

he not knowing Mr. parrah, he said his

waus so understood, anvway,
I then told him,

Revnolds, or I gave him an

'connecticut; I told him to toll M,



that it was given for value, wnd to

diseount it.

at niéht I was telling him; the next nihpt'”'
New paven; he told me he had been to New 6
Mr. Reynolds. 1 cen't tell you the dute; I.

the date.

That would be 'oanuduy. t.hta
day that Nomlon went to Connectieut t‘o see W. ':'
1 think he. .mot me that night when he came bgck,"llf; )
;as back early, and he met me that night, yqb.flﬁliﬁilﬁx:
night, T think, Thursday naght he came back una'tOXIVﬂp;V 

I saw him on 124th Street; he told me - IU];;‘T*L$

the elub Lo whiech T belotired was on that street at thlﬂ

the elub on 124th Street, and I lived on ¥ifth Avtnun I&
that time. Will I go mheud?



‘would put his neame to it they would diseount it, undgr.

had, and Mr. Revnolds said ho oauld do tm

banks there thut he was uc juainted in, I

doposit there, ves, he said that Mr, My

if they would buy 1t. not diseount it, uM

he put his name to ghe note =--

Revnolds said he was not 1nteraste’d onoitgh :lh tt rort.m.n
and then he made inuiries af the bank as to t.ht valm ot ;
the note, and they informed him that the banks wers 1omu.l
with Beecher ~---Darrah notes in New jiaven, and um.m vm‘.
Reynolds to have nothing to do with the note, i

This is what Mr, Norden told me, Horm
it upon himself, he said, to go among the m‘r'tt_-‘
told me he went to a man M:Putriou gronin, &



Norden said, that he had been put to -om
suyn, "Where do I come off ate" I thinl M
pression he used, "Where am I going to b.&_“
this", he savs, "I suppoud 1 wm @om WM
i says, "Take the note and sell it und

of it, sell it wherevér you can, get mm

he didn't say at that time, We ‘talxed mom,, fw
it, and Norden-- we then disecussed -'-lbt me IO_‘
said rthat he had a friend, in the ru_rricr bum.“ 131 m
vork, whom e oould have put Xx mtummat in htl m
and have it discounted. - ' el |

We parted, he keeping the note, 'rhemm I



ote, and T will have that note kept wnt

this note for $1500%; "Well, he suys, *

I knew of it,"

value, minus the discount,"
"Well*, he says, "now, I

Major Whelply®; 1 savs, "Mow, see M;

body else says, vou ain't going to xmtmﬁ :

pense”,

pr. Ensign “rought in Major Whelply to my ofﬁai., _'flf

4 week after this, and vet it may have heen a m,
some time wfier he brought Mujor; Whelply to my :o'-lmh'
introduced him, .

"Jow", he savs, wvou have it out with MM"
1¥*, he says, "my hunds are mhod of le "

*if what T think*, he says, *"if what you uuy t-



’ankuy my hands are wa-nma_u!_;

with Major Whelply.*

1 suys, 'whv was it sent into this orfiab

up there®; "Now" I auys. "that note uilf :
the money is realized on it that was sp:
he says, "I don't care, set either t

baek us aoon as you»oun'



()

Now, then, ‘,t.hét is thi lut!
ence to it, excepting I met Major ll'ulm
after thut, and he wanted to know uhnt uno‘
the note matter, and I told him, as far s !
the note wés in a New vork Bank., i
' 1 told that to Major Wholﬁ;y;_.l thi
Whelply, or ‘some such nm. 1 have Mm
fore Judge Ensign hrought him into m o
him, and then I think I only saw him M
life, , od 1' ';_
It is not true t.ﬂat I met mmn

Union Hotel, and thak he Lhere guvo‘m'e thop
note. I did not give Norden $1500 to put in thi.
Trust Company, or in some bank, or to open an acnuuu;‘*' 9

for myv henefit; I don't think I would do that,

after it "ud Leen protested, oh, I ought to say, if M

wamt me Lo go on historically, that after that w'. m



could have it duoomuawnh
for an answer from Willis, '

I first heard as to'.;ﬁc‘ﬁ" ote
after it.mn proteaf.od.. Do you Mt me

cums tunces? -

Mr. Shea--I met Mr. Shea at the

done cut of that note very nicely,
"What nouf' "Why", hq says, "Mr,

came up to New nnvon with r.hn nota’

1 says, "Wnen did they nll 1‘8"!-!“,_.-
said to Mr. sﬁea, "When was it solde* W'.
*"About, the micddle of July, around the 'ebih, batm%
“oth and 25th of Julyv, I think he told me.  Now, Mm
want me to atuto what further Mr. Shea iuid?’ e

"he note was protested about’ tho ﬂt‘lt of NW



tell me about cmn- He uys. *'»i

1 says, "hy. didm‘t' you wﬂﬂ‘
didn't want to"; and he says, that M‘ .
when he came down here and eoulﬁ not t
1 says, '!hy dmn t sou J.M
zive any further reason st t.mu.

him thé reasor, bui that is not

Sheu
notﬁ
him,
pot,

train, I think it was 7:30 or in the naighborhood of hbm

the train did arrive, ‘ ",ﬁ

Mr. Morden met me in Tong Islu‘ﬁ‘ ct_ﬂ" M

and with him was & Mr, warner. I usked Norden

the note for, und he sayvs, "mﬁ told me to “m




he says, "you told me to tell
ik cculd for it, for my -wm-; _

$1700 and my'aprﬁlo. were Ql?bo'. 

1 says, "well", 1 'ouj.. '&l’tw b

vou and I were -tulk'ing about this nou.q“
wasn't any understanding between us s w
done with the note. ,l

And uftgr'th_at vou iold me M
Lo & m, and I had seen this mwm

had given it to him, and he had put

.~ ' you told me that a man named Willis m m“
Then he melted somewhat and he say

ul;out‘ ite® 1 says, "pauy the mm W.

That is all yvou have got to dov, ;

He suys, "I haven't got the money"; m-,
vyou will have to get the money"; "well®, he says, "tf:l"
was given about six weeks I could settle this whole &hﬁh&i?,
up", he says, "I huve a couple of things on M, and L
would have money enougi in six weeks to sotthm MM
matter®, g ' :

"Well®, I IIYI.‘ *now I hntyn't. um

to have any responsidility here"; I says, “I “n

»
.



'

pot here and go right to rmlgo Ensign's
I says, "1 will do that®., Mr., ¥o

that took place, what he had done uul
leave it to the Jﬁdgo. il

I says, "I will make your sugg.lziﬁm'«,; !ﬂﬁ
him what you suggested and vou will be
n;;iven the opportunity",

1 went down to Judge Ensign, Mr. MQ!‘ m’l
in the house, Mr. Norden stayed outside, m 1 wum
Ensign the story that I &am now ulling hor', M I .
thht. T heard it the night before from Mr. M

It must have boan -= in the ﬂ!‘lt
berr. Judge lnltgn told u. ho ml. "It u



'ovorvthing will b- -atiltuotovy'

I cwne outside and told ur,t" de
the conroreno. hotvoon Judso Inaisn uuﬂ
the ‘prooklvn "L* and came over to New Y&fﬁ.
and Norden, |

We took the surfuce car, the Mnd&lﬁﬁ '

on Madison Avcnuo, and he got of'f,

rhmuﬁt_"h
Norden a‘bont the note, Will I relate mt ho m w

it and remain out of State prison*,
"Well", he says, "I will tell you now; I went to
say that 1 never knew Mr., Albinger in conneetion 'ihhftﬁiﬂ"w

note until Mr, Shea told me about him.'



never knew that he made um vioit. ‘or

She&a, and never knew thut Shea mw W'

T,

have Ishell get Jerry Atwut.or to oal'h t.MI MM.

That is what Norden to),d me tMt uzmm

able to pay for the note &t t.M t.th.



counted. I was 3oi.nc to uulf

note, e said that numr M

$1700., ves, tlvoo. is what_h. told l‘g‘t

made a deposit in the bank.

plent.y of mcnoy. ‘

A few dayvs afterwards -- they made the Gﬁpﬁﬁﬂﬁ'“
and two days afterwards they approached Lerner ;uﬂﬂﬁ't ‘
business proposition they.hud. e

Mr. Albinger was drawing --as Mr. ﬂqy@iy‘ﬁﬁwgl
I am only using his prrclaion =~Mr . Albim“ﬁl
fake plans of & house on eighty-second Stmn'.

piece of property up there umt was ull W.




know in whose neme ib;ﬁﬁ!&u

his.

fice, Judpe Ensign wrote me a letter, telling me we had
that Norden had not kept his agreement in making goeu ihﬂ&l

note, and he asked me to call down at his office,

-

office three or four times.




den fold me that he hedn's ny
'nuc was -bws W
think; it was about mo utur M o&' :

was around :h. latter part or tu.[r..”‘?%”

of mmth‘-

Norden told me what he h-a~¢1"]”

interviews bhefore that,--that I had vith;ﬂre Iﬁi&iﬁ;i‘

I had more ﬁalk with Norden nbout.thtk note.
whole thing went on until well up to the next inGURV#dQ ¢
would he a£ Stern & Rushmore's office. I mean the Etﬁppl,i

went down to rm, Darrah's.

was Cuo. I said the second promilo. N




e . ary. I got a aommniott'im WW
pefendunt ‘s Exhibit B is the
from Judge Ensign, 1 think it was in

ter that I ealled on Mr, Ensign and hi

| over there, within the milmg.

Well, I went to Mr, ---I went wlth W
down to Judge Darrah's office and ,., arr&h vm't M M
we got t.h'cr-.; We waited and 'ihnn he came in he said he wan
ed his lawver present during-,'cho interview,

‘We waited until the lawyer came and tho lawyer
wanted to know whaﬁ had become of the note, *Why* I ont,d,
"Njorden sold the note and got for it ‘1'700'; "'hy' Qm
"I understund he got $2200 for t.ho note."; I says, -m m

‘ he he got only $1700 for it.w A e




o

about r.hil thing. I don t wu.nt to be bo
am not going to hother my hm ubmt ﬂk.
do anything about it. Do you 'Iﬂt
money and they said "We are not philant

his money."

*Why". 1 says, What better is an affidavit nm M ﬂ»
ment I have now made, A statement is & statement mm :
it is in affidavit form or however it is made."

all that was said,

% Rushmore; he was so introduced to me; Mo M "

ed but I for_-get what the name m.



mediately ufter that md ! tn&l W tl

‘

.must be settled immediately,

This was in the latter part of Webruary mz
was at Mr, Darrah's office., I called at MF. Hor‘ln00w1i54 
fixm house on Saturday morning. He cume dwmtlm;tﬂ

not go in. We teleagraphed --



tel and we had & eonncriutiou. A
Shew did -- one of the naﬁ@a@V“
pieces was in Jersey. Shes did make some
the value of MF, worden's prop.rty. I'd&iv
reported to me what tho result was.

I did not report the result to No

gestion, After the conveyance --

Mr. Shea agreeing to sell thﬁ
said he would sell the proporty. Mr. ﬁh‘b ‘lﬂ‘ ﬁﬁf
Mr. Norden was prooo‘t and Mr. Norden OouV¢1CﬁT§§Qf
to Shea.

Before the conveyance, Mr. Norden, lv.lif;‘nl
shea were talking there and Shea usrood or Shea luﬂd h.
would take the property and he thought he could rclltln
more r,hun'gnough to pay the note and his own upm.

After he had tuken the deed to the p;apifty **'i;
don't know why I did it -- I told him that I t.hwcht W “""'_‘
best thing I could do was to go and look up the ti‘jp-ggu

the property, he having the title in his name, that is the



rainy dayl know and we took & car down and we
quite. smum & distance: to get to t_h. lﬂb‘.u o

Wecsaw the lots. 1 mm > e

. were not under wager, that there was m
The lots were, or we caleulated tm ml’

mated uuy were worth about Moo.oo.

lookod over the pluoo.

He only passed upon the equity lmll I m m .

¥ mortgage was there, if everything else was thcro We W
to this house ut Jumaica -- » ;.

We went to the house at Hempstead, It was a

nouse in Hempstemd and we exumined it and “MIM

the value put on it. We went down tc one of the W



I had no conversation with him,

Norden, ) ' i Fd 4
there was to be & sale of h within l

nnd ho found out that -~ i

\ We did not remlize anyt

L

found it was worthless. I

this chicken farm; that was the vear hctm. M ﬂ ;in
It was & vear before last summer and & year bo!‘on thl ﬂ""
rest, o “ :

I --- Mr. Nerden --- will I state what he daidy
He used to come up ‘to the slub and ask me “’ I Q«M
a check; I wanted to know what size it iu and he w.

"Ten or fifteen*, or whatever it would be; x m“ W;



J

check for Mr., Norden, :
That was done in Harlem 5
elub to whieh I belonged at that. time, on

That is my signature on People's Exhibit .

a teamster in that district. He lives there; |

his work in Harlem,

pentleman, Mr. Hanly. 1 never lndornd thut cm m

’



at the Cafe at the corner of 125th um Y

APy

Mr. Heas. it}

The name that appears is ﬂw* co

man --These people are upnown.' corner of Park
125th street, right within & bloek of the “Q i
uada by me in Long Island, this check MW»

I paid cash for most of Lhese, : ﬁ

ceeds of those checks., My name is on this,’ |
14, $20.; that is my name; I cashed that for m. el &

That is payable to my order; that ehc&j 1 ,M'.t'
know anything #bout, That is referring to Pooplo"s' IIMMG
19; this cheeck I know nothing about, nor this cheek fﬂ‘ |
$3., the farm and poultry publishing company, I dbn"t“ m
anything about it; he said 1 received that pap.r,' bn'ltll‘
never had it, |

I did not write the words "Pay to the or‘ﬂ' M

Harry P, Newington® on People's Exhibit 12; I am':m

i



it looks like my handwriting though.

My best impression is that.'tt"'tp};

Bxhibit 12, on whieh I have identified HU
is my hamlwriting. I have no nuollblu“

I now hold in my hand ,mh

had in the Van Norden Trust coww. I
his affairs in any way, shape or forﬁ.
R .]rhe hlue chécks were taken fmm.n smald pm\
check boox. Durinp t,hs summer I sold --thatxis the im

of 1902, Mr, hart and myself --Mr. part had an idea he

wanted to go into the chicken, into the frog ruiltm and
chicken business a«nd I was inquiring if any one knew mn ;
there was & farm with a pond on it, | ,
About this time Norden came to me; I don't know

but I mentioned it in his presence and he cume to lﬂﬁ



equity of that for the two thousand dol,m,'
on scme Connestieut property,

-1 was to oxchungo the oquity in u.

on'it two thouauml dollars mortgage; m othur‘ um,
paving four thousand dollars for the ram.

1 went down one Sunday, I don t Know Jult IM ifv
was but I think it was in --Oh, ves, Mr. part's money mt
into it, too., He put in & thousand dollars but that had
nothing to do with the farm; the farm was énéth‘r propo-
sition, there were two farms before we got through, I had
to take another,

I went down to Smithtown with Norden and ”J.

at the farm and I fbunq it ‘suited our purposes. I m



weresd o transter my mores
made out to th-i effect.,

. a farm there of 7 ucres, cultivated, qﬁq#i‘””
| peach trees on it and I think they ;a&dv';
corn; I didn't know any-thing about tm1
they told me; they said t..re /es &

worth of --



and apples and other things «nd that they i
worth & thousand dollars.

There was no poml on. :&t. .lg."'

)

-

That 1mdertuking was a failure,

Mr. Hart conducted the rmmgmnt 0! t.‘
from that time until the following Junuary when )
ed it, Now, do vou want me to tell wA emmtv

¥vorden on that?



"

p——

plm_ of a hernery drawn, M

-he owed me $900,,and he puid me in checks Nl

and mu)m ost.imutu ot ‘the mmr’iﬂl
back this was. I went down there for

return here at night.
1 havo had bu:imuu vulutim
Nordon in conneetion with f.hu

mr., Hart and I were parmoro; we we

place and he was to run it; he

ber, or the fourth,

these farms, or through whom the tlm vm
was un agent down there who has charso, pmt‘
that section, He gave me choopc..

1 did not ecash cheasks fcvm,

$600., every one of which was aoot.
_There is nothing in oomﬂgl.qn M

transaction between 'rhoron Lie wth uM m



ronmmw- tmut toqb
I nu morn m m

I was arrested for thiu
man's cheoks; he brought '-thp ‘man into « D1

them to me; Officer pappolt daid,

| xnntmusomm,nmﬁ‘

purpose of uﬂ‘oobing the two. t

affecting this case, This p.'mu”uﬁ_ti“
tm blmnn me; I think that was vmr
On that oecasion you wbn mr

proucuiod me. I was discharged, noton 4

indiet., I was in the Tombs and Mr, uorm'u MM

same time.

connected with the ntou.ung of thu note ; oﬂ’-&"d!

is mistaken; I was urrut.od for \'.Mn M.




It was after I had been di

mtur, about ‘t.w'q auys urtcr.'

against Korﬂn N _
o s ~ *q (By Mr. Sendford,) m
ovor hand you deliver to you or : .
cent of the roeoodo of the uuum-

A Give t.o-mo. no, sir,® m kbm

Mr. sandford was oonducting the oxmimtien. bQM ﬂb‘
wvagistrate,
1 never had & consu].tution with Mr, mm Qr

with anybody sonnseted with v.ho aun in w m, tw u‘

Md not expeet to be, mtm we Mnuntdr



Nordon, nor did I ever udvia‘ ﬂb.
oonvorsntion with Mr. Albinaor.

I do ddcidedly druu u'dlcf

fence of Norden, as a 1uqur.

not in wWew vork, When-the court of oon.rnl



he oume here to have u day set £0
I know that; I know that

Mr. Campbell €oming over hm uﬂ ek
‘effect und Mr. Cumpbell told me that
- was _.Iuppoood to be in Roston, | |

And he came back from Boston m
t.ologrdn to come here and stand trial W

he arrived here the Sunday morning before ‘

before the Grand Jury; I was. Now, I
with reference to the statement of "I'O. _
she had a odnvor.;tion with me, Sho M“
morning,

She came to the office the mmmmw

T

band's convietion and she was in the state thl_t'm

expect & woman would be that had suffered what she

know I told her that the only thing X thought'ow‘
for her husband was that & petition be drawn np “N

signed by the jury, the men on the jury that convieted



clemeney; that is tho ohly'oonv.r'iﬁﬁhn
to Norden's transactions at all,

Now then Mr, Albinger, in the b

d me,

1 met Albingor and asked '

~ in existence, and he said, moi; I M
& check for mev; "0‘11', he says, 'IM
that work that 'you did for me in the m-.!, s
ings in Brooklyn",; 'ﬁoll'. I said, *I don't |
such thing® and I don't either and probably th.ﬁ is
has reference to, but I have no recollection "0“‘0‘
1 did non' knowingly, at any nhu, rouivo m w

the proceeds of the sale of that note or the diseount e &
that note, marked People's Exhibit yo, 4. v
I testified before the Grand Jury, 1hh$ St 'i"

a question in my mind -- Mr, settoll brouzht t!'mt Q”'



J

that*; I looked it over wnd I say

written; it was handed to me, I M‘-',&t‘. M
sign it, and I refused, i
1 don't remember Mr, samdfor@l asking m.
insiruet Nr. Norden in regard to what he mmd dao vM.‘h W‘
proceeds of the discount of this note whea he should w
in getting it discountedv. If it is there I presume hn m.i
I did say ""A At that time he m to bri.n; ‘the

proceeds back to me®, That was in the police "\, ; ,‘. ﬂ.



never asked me to uppm MN u\‘m'
never consulted me or nxu me m-t t
I went upon the withul s‘tqﬂ.

I was subpoenuned and pﬁt upen

Well, it is the

-

counted», 1 did oo tutiry.

counted in New Haven; I knew it wou].d Nﬂ :
repres_entatiﬁbs made to me were true;. I, gave i
structions that it should be ;l_iioountpd".
£y,

That was before recess. bt 4 told Mﬂl t.@

¥

note and pet his oxpinuu out of it*, That ﬂ

lowing -- that was the second or third e

T

Mr. !!ordqn'-. 1 no,uuiﬂu wmsmwmp



1 did make the stuttulut.
were tollowing it down hiatoricully.~
sveRtE &8 they cecurred dmy by day.,
days of this transiotion'.

vAfter his return the ntomnﬂ"

) ; ceeds after deducting his oxponlcu tbt
ik things.* A ves, sir.* A I 80 tl.f”

lection was better then then it tn‘nqn!

Y

cally, I had a number of oonvorsntionl Itth Ilh

about this note,



that gentleman, I live at mm
OLEE ¢ uith hil An the yekb,. i ke -um"ocr
ing with ham vet, E e

| I remember hnv.ing )lr.. and l.l!'s. ’
me in July or August, 1902; they .l;ly.d" m
This was in Kenwood, prooklyvn, 1 do not“

question,

home in the evening, togaether, They s ¢
> had been to New pjaven; they came baok

, they cwme from New pjaven; it was about the no

ing & note. ,
They got money, SoR i e mu’ ’. g

how it is cmlled. They had the money nath t:hul

po in a hurry, we have to go to New paven®, They got

and went off to New Haven,

When they came back that was the next W:W

came back the next night; _ thov said t.hoy hud got ‘Mv n

avery day,



it m"mth‘iw about ‘nine or -tl.itﬂ
lixe that, A
CROSS WIMTION :

1 live now at 894 Eagle Avomu. 1 ﬂ

my husband to-day; I saw him this morn!.ns. ! m m
him I was coming down here,

1 know about the cuse since December, mﬂm
days before Christmas. Mr. Albinger told me uwt
showed me the 'pupor. ‘

1 saw Mr. Conlon that smc a"uing. he

Wl

Norden; when we left the house; when wa owme

lon pussed us. He said, *How do you do, Mrs.



as I was ooning out of ﬁm'unmv

1 don't know where lu was
und said, 'Hov do vou do m. ubmm-,

about the number of feet he was fm \'-‘W;:

" one door away,; I said mayvbe,

i}

I said muy.bo one or two doors

D

seen him from thnt. day to this. 1 4
: before that. I had seen Mm_himi that
that is 311 I ever saw of Mr, conlon, -
1 had seen him & long time botm the n&m etf-

the eonvietion; it wasn't a year; I saw him :m tht OM“
in Eighth street, once, .I gucal. in st M. l:u_..ﬁ

~ ' vorden's office, that is right, : i, g

conlon said, *How do you do-." That is un :
néver spoke more to me. "siow ‘W Mn &n‘*



1 beg vour pardon, I mwcn' % tmw,h

1 know Mr. Chanler; I ﬂid&l

fb!‘l. I EOt L=} .ubpo.n‘|

~—

I have not got it with me,

I don't see him now in oom't'.lV “

1 beg ybur pardon, I told him thlt 1 Inﬂl

speuk sbout that, when they cume from New nﬁ'ﬂh

It ig a great inconvenience for m';;aa-__a
here to-dny, To the gentleman who served the lm‘
me, I said ves, sir, Because I had to take the m

ren with me to-day. I said I was coming down tm«f‘




 to come down, zt ‘was lmﬂ*
1 could havo come t.emorm Juﬂ.‘

not tell him that,

e nu-a_ me 1;.0 M |

.

"'011'

P

-

years, over four vears, I huvo“m |

and then I met him again after two nm. : :

in 1902, 1 have seen ~him since then; I BaW. m

1 have seen him since Mr. Norden m d

I did not state to Mr. Wendelt that I would pw:m‘.

in order to have my husband, Mr, Albingor put :ln Jd&,‘
- ‘ I did not at any time make that ltutmnt_ to )l'.

him, I want to g0 away and work like 2 dmmt v

he didn't aivo me mvt.hing to eat and m .‘M




chndron.‘ I &am looun; fm-

take my children with lu.

got one hundred dollars. Mr

‘ & hundred fram Mr, Albinger., I didn't see

O

Norden one hundred dollars. She had the one M
the next morning,
dollars. She had the one hundred dollars the morning

they went to New [laven,

mro. t.hat is nll. nobody .lu.




1y«

too;

N

don. she told “ that the mt mmm‘.

7]

.

m ‘.t.'

was Jung.
It was uftcr- twolvt ow
gl ~ saw you or Mr,. White. Mr . 'h:lu QM-

in ;vc‘mr office, That is the first tm

eitmr of you 1n my life,

thing. vou said if the children maybc would. ull 1-‘ 4
that t.hoy were there; tell their tuthor.

'rhil is the man that curvod the 8

my hush&nd; a good friend, ] :
Mr. Albingcr and Mr, N aruna r:uuh-u‘

.

P RN auout eleven bhat nisht, maybe 1: was . 11ss1b

“ m. - ".i". L 1,‘_‘.,,.-«‘,;.:;.h.»‘ _L..,,,



or maybs & m.m &uﬁ 2

- o cloou.

I am very distinet in'my n‘o"éliliofiw

they said that they --had been to New

case, In Pebruary, 1903, Mr. Albm w\.
proéeed‘ings against me, I did not m

town, I went to Jersey that M'

of mine; I stayed there t.h-t. M&
. 1 ecertainly talked '1
to put my husband in Juil. 1 did not. -m
I was very angry with my nuqu
never do nnything like that, I am uhil!. m

as angry as I was then,

I came down here to t.utify to-W'

this what I have testified to, and I twudnt




Mr. Conlon and his Mor f

to testify that I had reseived this

told it to Mr. Chanler,
Well, I found out where Mr, | |
I wanted to--I found ouf where m'.‘

‘night, I went and asked thb pccﬂg

gave all the money to M, 00nl.on. and wr.

.".11. he will say it toO.* Mr o Al 2

aux &k xmax



uround in some express orra.., gr .>
something about New “ub.n,n

gning to be free - to:morrot‘

to-morrow, 1 thought that meant. mm»
to be convicted,
It was to prevent the o¢

1 went around to M. Conlon's 0}_.

cause I got some of it, ‘Albinger and iaf‘
going to put it in the bank. Well, eer
o _ in the bank; they couldn't give it sl to



two, My first business was su
pany. I worked in the cloek «m n
cut from 18'7'1 or 18'78 do'dn to 18“.

1809, In 1899 I came to Now Vork to pMM'

on motion,.

I had only practiced three u.g:'-‘.‘ in ¢

that is &ll the requirements are, Mr, Adams made

on the recommendation of Mr, Simon Baldwin, You '111 m
evervthing I can give vou,

" 1 practiced law in Mew York after that’ hmt m

middle of June, 19072,

Not continuously from

mixdd in my dates,



pructico of law here., When I cwume tQ"
1901 T lived at Fifth Avenue, vI fonc_“ M
it was 21668, I lived there about two M
£ tinuously, |
That was lest Augunx

120th Street, I lived at the number on

August, 1903, uontimwusl‘r.‘ 1t mﬂ
nuonawifloor. I am & poor hand ,W

: | | I am poor at rmmh.rlu&
have the paporl before me, Dbut, it m,

Vernley Hall, on 1 20th Street, mt to tM'

Now, it is No, 51,

"; ing under & strain, I can hardly thint. rrm; t‘ m t_

left hund side., I don't know who owns that hniﬁw

el idty o



51 zylt 129tH Street,
Did I say 5l? ves,--well,

body knows it, My family moved,

I am not tryving to
clouded condition,
hold up. Vou will excuse me, and I will anl*!@

I am a Jlittle playved out, but g0 Qn. J
any trouble now. ~ Go on, I will stand it unttl

o' ecloek, and I will reol all risht unttl tﬂnr\




and munimmxy. w:ul mtd h
Aftor I left
lloyt on 127th Stroot.

manently; we movod oue

- : My wife tukes care of tho.ﬁa'
ZW I ‘ever paid rent in my life; not por‘”'“"

to those things at all I have nothm.

Well, I can_aond-for tth.Vﬁﬂﬁ

K

see, the man the rent was paid to 1n the

i _ hired them to me? In Brooklyn. : 4 don 4 muap

landlord there; I think his name 15 cohn, I thiﬁk lu”

don't know, We paid the rent to tho 1undlor¢ 1

That is the gentleman whose neme is on
1'don't know if that is « ch§§k for my rggt; M,




A T sent it for ‘the rent, I ‘mm '

here; I don't know now,

I am surpria.d now that tM% !

1 would not' suspect t‘hn%‘wl

‘ thought I was guilty; I would not -mm ‘-

" know who believed me, other than you;

else who ever suspected me but you,

Stern &

& Rushmore never lulptnt“ .l




Darrah note; it ‘I‘P’"ﬂ o9

papers before,

That my name was loutom

in the court, but 1 never saw. that

the court, that they had my name in. tMW

L~ ~ Some one told me that you M
uf‘t.or hoaringv the testimony of M,f"
Norden got the monoy. ‘ ARG
1 am feeling better this Mﬂmt
sleep last night; I slept not a wink t.ho num
' took some bromo seltzer vuterduy ufto:'noon M it
me S0, my mind so that I aould not tﬁink.
1 hlnk my memory is first .cluss thil ‘
J I have no reason to think otherwise but that 311 LM “

3

' of this tranahction are clear in my mind.

My memory is as clear today us it was M b

tified upon the trial of Idwin J. norden in this tm"-

don't know why it should bo any ¢leurer--no, sir, M, is




it to me, I found it thcro

just as ql‘hp.
lhi Mksiltrﬁnd
Norden's caio;
out,

I remember --

I ean't think of her name;
Nowak, She had been in my

After this transaetion she

note, when Norden had returned rrom‘niw'gﬁrth.‘ih!{ﬂ

Lime; that is before he went baek to 5011 dts

time,

I would either lear that note up or give it qiua.



standing, that in a oort.uin contingmy t

note up or give it away, 'rhat. 1. riﬂlt.l

When I made ‘t,hut. statement U’m

-
1 have had considerable cmt‘i
I never was & business man, I studied tmuﬂﬁ« o
and notes, I presume I am Familiar with e
-

a note hrokor'. I know what u note broxor is, hu ,’1
familiar with the usages, if thorc are w

1 was not I‘amiliur with the ‘rmt.."



I did not think of the matter &t

) for this note; that is all I want

to pet these notes, Mr. Bnlisn bold u

notes, each for $2,500.

2 I am sorry to say. I was not p

R

5ot it; I never cured about M‘..

was not hankering after that kind of
it and never followed it,

I don't say that I would not have

any thing that there was money in or could M

mately, but I was not, at that time, hankering .

Ensign; he solicited me, fe “"*“Lir*"



to the cormission which was to be paidj i

that, because that was not the fact,

sell the note und tuke his expenses out of it M Mm

)

five per cent of what was left; he was to have the half

that I had.



that I authorized Mr. Norden to

0 .
per cent.,
I am porhctiy olear in ur
) tm questions you ask mo this nom
. trips to New. auvon, to my xnowl“sh
i others,
'hon Mr. Norden cume baok fM At)u'
he Had the noto in his possesgion; he liad not Wt
New [javen, COnnecticut hecause I auvt it.. 1 am u'
d tive a8 a man can be of anything., I haven't W d

it at all,

I saw the note when Mr, N«.}.r(un_ came wm
Haven the second time. $o far as I knew from &
until my interview with Shes, in uuuw. %

\



nono,'fthy nsk thats I smid oo., 1 ]ﬂng
over; that is the fact,

I will warn you if I 'ﬂntuﬁhi

how many. ' ; :
1 wrote him; I called at his o
xnow; I did not pay much attention to t.hu{ ‘

has got my letters.

in August, T wrote one or two lettqra to Mr.
Julj, 1902. and November of that yo.r.'-I iou$d£,h¢

if I wrote rore than one; I did not oonstdcr-*}



note? A No, it was not, no, no.!

years ago; I would not utttﬁb&(tﬁ__

more than ten days or tvo WweekKs ,

said., Mr. Ensign brought

he introduced Mr. Whelply



'tom me, some distinguished ehnnator in M

don't remember the tes_t.i.monvi th& s
presume, :
1 remember the soi;'w
on the examination in the case mt
remember being exumined by yqﬁ.’ ‘
YA When Mr, Herden ot b.nit,; M

'M‘

state of ufrairs he met with in connowsm

with Mr. Benchor'u notes, t.hat. he was 8

r

over ‘the eountry, -md not meouna :m mn,



mm that bctorc. and he wm b

office. 1 told him I Aid not om
Whelply there or not, But he daid b
and z,ulfnded to discuss the ho‘b}!iﬁi’”

“piving that-tastimony.
note with Major Whelply,; that was trun.

ly after refusing to do so,
As far as it went I intended to be
the Magistrate's Court, when I gave thut t'oq. ]

ing had a oonroronoe with Major 'hclply. in



was monu.‘ You yormittad me to
tonaﬁt 1 ought and no morc.

£ @uait want o umo"
1 was not permitted to tell th;n story

duy and novor have been, : il

you to underutund -

a ‘ .It is not & fact that Mr. Bniiﬁn‘



qmution, yes, or no®" !to sﬂ'c-

sold or how; I beg pardon for interjecting

to do it,

and see what was being done there,

lot.t.or, Exhibit 24, rhat. u mmt naom,



on the second of August . fram uﬂ!

with the note a8 he directed,

1 did not say to Mr.;naiu
note up to connecticut, and that I '»
why I hadn't & report on 1t. 3

‘This letter was writb.n.

nqto~wus diqconnted. | <H ?

I huave made 1nquirié|'c£F'
done with the note. pirst heytold‘mi ﬁ;_
rler on St. Marks Place there, the man up st

me it was there; that rmust have been abound the

1 did receive some inroimat;on.aﬂ»tpﬁ
note was hetween chui time and the wriﬁ;ngﬁétj'
that Mr. w1111-, of Brooklyn. Mr, nordun-o‘ ‘
had it. Oh, coverul times bororo.l hud hn-ml
Before that letter of August, 1802,.1 m J



ol T 0w AR g B A9,

at all,

¥ didn't state any thing 1n

. I wasn't purtioularly 1n
and bothering my‘ -hucl about what M
to me that any such thing s mu W
; I didn't t.hinx the note wes vrorth tho
on, ‘ o
I say that now, and I don't. benm t
that time was and I don't believe it now -nand th&tf
would never have been paid to any man other thn%  .
water who had it,
1 know that absolutely from ro).ithl.
1 wul p';lve you my reasons ro? bolievlng Mw

them, llr. pucm:- was nof. put in bunkr‘u.pu




; & 3
""""‘,"'-."'»‘”’"'”“"” TR TN g .

I ot every chanu. 1 am rindiug no Mﬁ‘

YT

answer the questions. pardon me, M ‘Ltﬂ

'011 Mr. Norden hadn't tho.d m‘
that time; Mr. Norden hadn't i.n-tmcuom m
of A ugust to sell that note to anybédy he choses or
sum h. chose, .

He received those mstmouom the day mwm



was said betwaon us; 80 he told. me M

Norden t.o ull w hﬂ““

uuthorhe Mr.

the ntgm he came back fron Im
Norden to New Hauven the third tm. IM
I never told him to go apgain, &nd never um he
Mr. Shea told me, ‘in Novémber. ‘ i

That night at Long Island City I amﬂ G*
Norden that he pay me the proceeds of the Mt'c‘.-“" I M‘W
ask him to pay the ’morioy‘ to me; I di'dn"t mz Mu W\“”
mand was that he should make that note good tol&‘. —

or r. Ensign or Mr. 'holplv.



-

the note and he said he hadn't the money,
1 may have termed that & m
termed the other things., I ain't uainc\l

nere; if vou want to use those I itll e

I did sipv, tcn’, u- w»« M

from him a balance? A

ence to the night at Lonr Island city -

count of this note and demand from him.tho bll!ﬂpﬂt=
did, sirv, That has reference to iho 51sht ﬁ; a;ﬁ&
What was your questiodv. Thut_quqstﬂwﬁi”‘
me and I .muuuhnhrb uPhat is true, ' 1 m N
he would have io settle the thing, .



as to where 1 was,

That is not true, Tt u'm"

b
3
have no reecollection, It might have boan ’?b ﬁ‘
well, now, let me see, that was on !itﬁﬁbk, n
no, sir, I think it was §26 or §27, so that "’8 wmnsu
‘two months rent. T don't know whether it is & faet or m
- that I paid two months rent to Mr, wewington on thomm

of July 1902, I don't know, RN .
I haven't any recollection at all of tMt M"*x
My recollection is very good, My rooollnctton *"l

that cheeck ought to be just &s good as ;t,tt‘in‘,i



wll the other nmu;»'

do- you ‘want me to say
-

New fuven more tnun twice, I think my

better than it was in the Magistrate's

Shea in Noveémber, 1902; and that conversation was the

would auv b ! did not,
1 don't remember of ever huv.‘l.nc w

i umd a telegram to Mr. Shea or havj.ng uny

pqrtnneo with him, The interview with sm &MM



he .B.VCO ‘
handed to him; I did not. I mm
I heurd you ask to have those tnm :

Exhibits © and 10 for menunuuon. 5

think how T =eould connect that At‘elegram.

In consequence ---I1 had & oonveruti'oﬁ' wlthm.
Sh;u in November 1902, in conlequenoe of a omamuron
ne serit to me, not that 1 sent to him, he sent tb w- at

my house; I didn't send for Mr, Shea,



ur. I sent it,

Shea called me up on M t
conversation with him over the u».'
come tO Mew York at once to see hﬁ.

you what I told hime

Mr Shea und I did not do all the talking; Mr
more of it than anyone., The cmv;rddtihn m

I did‘not state to MPw Shem on M
that the Distriet Attorney was aftor me M
'w the' n-mm mu. Mr. nrm m m”



so;-doti'; as & matter of fact gu Dist

written to me,

not clear; I can tell vou what, in genom, wiig N&W

S’

euch to each,



be, vet I niwe

stutoment'.

ﬂ”f  | | The equities were turncéﬂovcvvﬁ§;
I am sure that was said t.h.n. I ain't sure
thing. I am not sure who said anything.

I am equally positive 1 did not lb:

ing. I had no particular int.erast. in &Mﬂ‘

until after I heard he had received m

d March, 1803, I wﬁs at that time interes
the note wu}u;puid.‘
Well, I ~-no, tir, I m Mt
-

_never vill puy one cent on that note unless the JW
of the Court deereea I shall,
When Mr, Shea met me in uoveuhor. Lm,,., ‘

me that the note had been um for tl.mu unn



I know it was nna or o wu. n:lm.'
lutor.' I saw him the next nicnt,'

All he got for it was $1700, M

had been $1700, I did not believe him, I

when he said he got 32000 -well, I was nct.

went, to him and I told that to Mr., Ensign M lw w"
Mr. Shea told me that Jerry Atwutlr hld boum

the note, Afzer Mr. Norden told me he got 31700 far tt_ﬁl‘ ?“

juiry to ascertain who was telling the emth.
I was interested in having the noto m,

ter settled up, that is uJ.. the only intornt e




to him, as wt mnt.tm ¢
who hud put out any mm

tive of that.

#

I did not know that they

day, I don't unow-who paid Shea's
i to New York in uovamber, 1903. :
A Mareh. I paid .for the telephone Mm \
‘my own poeket, E
I paid «ll the expenses of lemﬁﬂiak;f
erty; that io my recollection, Although l*ﬁhti
LS
4o with the man sinee that tlm-.
i ‘ friend of his and never mm e




s g <

was decidodly angry. He was not :u..

mine, I did not, pay Shea's

matter for me at that t.ime boudb[
able =--

I was decidedly interested
fixed up, ;denidadly so. No, sir'; as u'u't-r.t@r
thousht The $4500 equity was there. I Aid think

A

- tively and decidedly.
he
Norden told me had only those tw

property, I think Mr., Darrah is nutquon M t



_wyeg", He might have said nm; - no

rage there for me,




woro injuma. 1 was nﬁbt pm

I wus not rcqu“itad to ‘M “'

orf:l,oo by the owner of th‘o nb‘t.a._.’ xt you‘

and I am willing to pay hack if vou ’sﬁ'o‘f‘
in order to secure vou Y will give you & i
property down on Long Island"? A No 8i

that,

i | , Mr. Darrah did not say to me that I Mm
in to see him as I promised, and
been very busy and had had it in

him, and would do 80, but that I

see if ho, Norden could get some
inomy out of Norden to help tuke
-voncuon did not oceur at t.rmt :m or at Ilv !

mz 1 rooolmt. ' " -




8t that

rapher? No, sir, That

me and ur. Darrah

fear*s A No sir. Nothing of tm uﬂ',

O
: tell all vou know about 1‘;, Let us m w t
| Attorney's officet. -
: | He might have ‘l&il;.l, *Let us W :
5 Studin of the Distriot Actornoy s ofﬂ“" !
vves, 1 w111 go.* I don't think. he u.m. 'Lll
along.* I don't think that was said; I aon't em'u m
as far as that, ;
Ly

' 1 did not say, "I am not urrdid-ot t.mm
Attorney or mnybody else*, I said I was wulm
time when summoned and called thoia'pmpnlwg.;

I said I e vxnw to 80 any t.m,»
~ said, *Now since then 1 have heard that WJ

e Jé)uv




’

received a dpllﬁr 6! the iﬁnﬁr.
He said, “Mr. OOnlon, 13 i&
can subltuntiuto his oluimn by ohldll
ment," I replied, *If there is any su#h
' Oor *i1f :
they are tovsorillaahhangnrn any such e

they are forgeriesv,

wes brought in the Tombs. 1 daa‘antii_ﬁ

with norden after his arrest, b.!bvi‘

arrest and before I testified for the reoplq.\;
uny conversation with you. I never refused to conve
vou; in faet you never asked me Lo cqnttrfwiﬁbl

Mr. Sandford, as between man and man I Know



.vn

tween Mr. Chanler, mysel! and you, vut

I personally met, no, sir,

say -- No, sir; vou nqver apoke ™ wdﬂﬁ5§§

between you and I, «s I know YOu\npﬁjf
the witness stand; vou didn't ask me & 't

vou, The first conversation --

you, if you want to, now, Oh, purdon me; I‘TOPGQtWFh‘ﬁ‘  i
1 am; T ought to remember; I will answer you,

I did not state to Mr, uupbell that if hv uy

Lol



culled «s « witness i.‘n"ll;e'!'&ﬂ'l- ;

'dir'ect. exanination was n.ot unum,

recess®, I said, "I would not do any suesh

1 said "hat is the use of asking for M

I prosume I met Mr. cambonj“ ir

the hullwuy. I did not -pjeu‘x'vn ‘!:»

‘question is put to you?"

- I did not reply: I will swemr &m t

to him,* I don't remember that the quelti.on m ﬂ\i&ﬂ

[ will see,

; I do not remember your using the mmtu M

B

Will lho;‘ 1to,




vou didn't intend to convcy thn 1upreu
gift of the note to Mr. Norden®, and I su&di
I thought from that that vou hn4.an 1-protf‘”

soing to say no.

. poant.
I recollect t:hut I vuuit.ad to tell thl

and you would not permit me, I rocollect vonw uﬁ&ﬂé
minutes to refresh my memory. I have no rocolleotiﬁn af

what I thought at that time now,

d ford, I don't reccllect what impression it then made upon

my mind, or on my mind at that time,

» y QL
’ N A




q )

jurors mins was., That 1. the tht

enough; I was there three or four weeks,
' . - Norden's trial had nothing to do !ith my
my name upon the door; I went down there to tﬂ'lm
I would not be surprised but it is correst that Im
about the :‘ift.eenth of November; that is about m .

*Q And Norden's trial actumlly dd.d m *

that 80? A No, sir. *  vou wg\:\c- to nmm




people in thore, 1 was goi.ng to m m-

moved it 1n because there were too m

1 never chought rhat. I m

that they intended to have any .uohf.l_edtwi
I did not ever state to Ilr. Kordon,-
tell, to Mr. Glassburg, to Mr, cmpbell or to niw m
restimony I would give ,1n the cuse against nor“n. tm
knew, Mr, campbell examined me --
| I can aceount for the fact. that thi_l nummt
is not in aceordanee with the testimony t'.hut I mm m
mutruto 8 court, and is in aooord«m&o ﬂ.th ‘

!

you
thut. 1 gave in this court up Lo the time thﬁ!.*



o veasbimiiie by
‘mony given by me in the '

for that.

or examine me mhmMXx with reference to the |
‘ e - port or proceedings. '
~ o 2 I do not admit that the stat

pQOplo'u lzhibit No. 23 is sub!

"

resorted to the use of tlie ;t’.enogrqgml”r

my memory.

not contain all the facts that I could testify w. m’&
what they wanted -- | IErL _”.3

May I look at’ it. Mo, sir; in the first pm' 'f.-'-e--

i no, sir, it was not correet; it was not correet, 1




Theron L. Smith was the b

property was bought, That is thl m .

I réferred. I had remd that before I sew.
I did not mwo a bank mount in
1902. I did not have a bank aceount any tm
‘summer of 1002, : U
#* tines yhan 3 cashed those e

them nmnc some friends of mine nﬂ

o
for Mr, Norden himself, another one of them m ~-'I w it
. down in Northport, Long Island, & ten dollar cheek, I M

bt a small bill with it,

You see I only had eight or nine ot'tm'f.“et“r

ferent times he came there and Mr, panly, in the e



rememher t.hut he did;

regard to euoh one of these ohom.

gard to the two Hanly ohockl. I smm

direet examination, and that was only ln

Mr. Norden, 7
'ell. I will suy now thlt lr. A b,

he could Mt

When I made that answer it mongt th ‘!' Wm
I changed these checks for him; that is I got my Mtoﬂ
his cheek,; that was not giving me.anything; he never m"\l
me anything,; he gave me these checks and I suvo muv w

he never gave me that as a payment of Wmim;. o\rm vm

they came back protnnd.



of_evor cashing them, and never did,

I had no,ra?oblecttcn of eadniii;-
they were shown to me, Ves, sir, -—ah! .
péoplé --1 did not xnow thét I- gnur

ves, I had known that,

Why, vour Honor, I mever saw th
bell's office; the first

is the first time I ever seen the checks., I hud no r“ilr‘\
leetion until I saw them,

. - Well, they asked me, Mr. qhndfora.u‘i" ‘Fﬁfﬁﬂﬁzi'



Albinger s of mine for $200 or‘ldq"ﬁlb 6&’
‘dollars, and I seid, vif there 18 ey e
forgery.® '

* I never got uny money from l!‘o Aw:[ f e
Fot any oheokl rrom hinl; and Mr, Smith said m ’M I
cheek, I then went to Mr, Campbell and I Ilk."lb. fd'
if that was so, and he said he didn't know, and I liﬁ‘,

and they uu they uﬂ m.

v"Are these checks herev

5,““\ w that, MNow thﬂ next tm 1 “‘l‘ ._
.m the day Mr. Albinger caume, the “’ r’

‘



is & forgery"; he says ;Mt'.l‘v

he said, "I sent you a cheek for §75 ar

o'slock --0On the day of tha 17th I hnd hctu Qf

truck, Brighton Beach.

John Hart was with nie; nobody olio.

After supper we went to tm M'




rexington Avenue to 124th gtreet, I met ,q
quaintances at the elub room, I remained

ten or eleven o'oloox. between ten Qﬂ,"

the horsos in the third rece; I think it wu tzm q
Hermis; that is the only one I can name, IM 1
for a reason,

I don't remember any one in the £

asked me t.o_bot on it, 1 was utm “



ORI ron o

of Mr. Opnlannqt uny.time.
We have not the papers in this lmQ “W«;@

the papers but I will answer that

o | p , .
| Mr. Albinger uned me to defm,'uﬁ
did the work required }
After I'had made --I had hoard that Mre
bl .8 Mr, Smith told me in Broonlyn that Hl’-

$250 1 ‘think it was, & certifiod chlel of

*Why if there is any suoh chnk tb “ i




remember I ggﬂ you u chlokm
and you allowed me $25 for t.hn tM
‘u the firlt I remembered o!' it} II’,‘
to~-day of ever seoing that chtcl m‘

- or how it vg'ot. to my landlord; I M't

by a cheox. i
1 puid that money to m;.

puid it in oash., I paid it b the

presented these bills, he hrouehtw
-xu to, I will explain the whole emw
cash; there was some I 'rrudad ':lth m

I don't know whe ther ur. nm't m‘_ ‘ V
when I paid him the.money; some of ur. Hurt'

there,

&
A

I won $1800 at the PRO.“thnt‘ﬂlyﬂwggﬁi

is ‘not 'purt of the money T gave Lo u‘orm;‘,f.;

wr. Norden any monoy.




vnrtw&'t;
Now, these &t

clear to me, twd veurs .qu, s

i3 but I opened an acecount,

time, that a business man qui& m

body handling my money.
It is not a faet, f.o my knovlmqg

' Ty
him from Mr. Norden, wont down and paid my

the amoint due her for the weeks wagel.-

edge, I don't think these quOItionl an}m
cuse; I think I am going to take 'p#rt mm
Mr, Heinzelman, I objeet to thm quuum,
May I ask to have it striokon out..
i ‘ your Honor, I think -m' M. 0

these questions were asked. I QN“*' to tha l‘f




~euch of these cccasions, and 't'hl}t 8

Places than in my ofriqc,'
to town, at depots; if I was mu #
for her, if" I was poing to uoub pl
& depot; no other pluace,

I dornot remember that she

hnd transpired 1n the orfiae cinel'
she did, She probubly *ou me thﬁt W

tbc office ropeanedly uxing ror m

¢ s

to that effest; I dcen't remember; I was puving nb i umm 9

will m"n‘_"’
quuuom I don't rooolloct her ever WM
" me r.m\t. Mr.. misn was oum at -y ofﬂu

1 did not understand t.lu question,



T would tell her; I have
T d"“"“‘-\WtMt 1t
*I will see him in u f.w’<1:'41Al"5»';'fi-..‘7"L
lit at all,

1 considered the note of no

JOHN HART, « witnegs called on
rqndunt, being duly ;'bﬁh.

I 1ive &t 189 xa.t ern

was the lith day of July, 1002,
1 do reeall fhe 17th day of July, lm\v"
cenlon on that day; I went to nha(;nmn pluppsp@#:

the race tru@k aut, nrighton Beach,




-

This hotol is ut thi
we went from there up tovn to :ht
gtreet between Lexington and ?nurtn’

We walked up Broudway t§ 
over to;Loxington Avenue and t6§¥ 
up to 125th gtreet, or 184%%)&@%!&&{ ‘

to the alub. R

1 arrived at tho club.,

There were other peoplt at thi
there. I was in thé club pretty near ulita
about .hmlf pust ten, I should judge, ul untrltn-
That was the 17th daynof ;uly? 1002,
Cross BXxamination:

I beg pardon, I have only béén h‘ﬂ‘
or 80, T was here while Mr, conlon was bﬂﬁti#i_
1 fix the date as the seventeenth on uaﬁcun&

to tha race track the day boforn with\uwm
5onzln-nn who gave Mr. oonlan Iﬁhﬁ intbﬂnu&t

i



Nt

play it; that was on the 1‘7th-

one or not, I don't recolluqt.

1903, I think I was in 1901,

I had §75 of my own on the 17th., I got more naﬁﬂy'
conlon; I got $25. on the 17the I didn't Know ==
1 wasn+t going to invest uny_'njlloi,.i’ on

culled Vurvunted. I J.nvoutml mr my on: M

.




1 guve thn’nhh 'ﬁﬂt‘

15 teo i,

$200; A
};uﬁ‘ . mohey that season; I had a behutitul Iqﬁ!'

itive of the time,

seventeenth,

before nor since.

o | i can remember the eifﬁuﬂ‘fw
assure you, The 17th of July whas the tﬁnﬁ

- " ner vith the defendant conlon at ch&r%:~

‘roudwav and went with him to the Olnhw

given us the information, Mr, Quinn.
conversation off and on, on the evening of thﬁy‘
' W it was on that eveniﬁg‘thdt it,'ishi
conlon bet money on Warranted on the dightpcnwkf{ ”
S AL the conversation on the seventeenth, gonlon d’ﬁf
l won, |

When I bet that hundred dellars on '




that rode ;crmis. ) § don + romumbor un, 

an unusual occurrence.

I hud seventy-five dollm-‘ orw

alized & considerable sum of money in o

mation received from Mr. Quinn, I t.dokfhﬁfa

to invest any more.,

AGNES ALBINGER, & witness for the ¢
recalled. ‘




winter, 1 was 1ndeb red to her for
‘ty ddllars,

I told her --I told hﬁr_\

dered,

1 saw hin give her a oheek. x M ‘,
‘bank that cheeck was drawn; I don't rnﬁmuhﬁr '
from pr., Norden, a check signed by ur.nommm :
Norden panking Company,

Mv husband is an archinact and uvu

yutcmy. I met her ynum in Mr., cm.-

T went over fo Mr. O chanler's m She .
with her. 1 don't Know u m m m




mythmg like that.

ml_ morning,
CROSS EXAMINATION:

my teatimony on 'rhursany last,

I did not say to Mr, '-mu

touched by & snake, that I m- bonixd"'tb

any cos, that I would stop at not
had to make & criminal or-him'fmd,A
would take the furniture in my house,

paid for,“md have it taken aiuy»“h

my husbund was not provxding & W for

1 told him in his house, tvhat
been taken away. I told him that I had & quarr
Nothing else. That is all I smid to him; only m
quarrel. i
and I told him what happened, and that I.was |

home, that everybody told me. --



1 told the two poliqemen. There un uw
. : two, I told the poucmn what it m m- 0]

should behave and theyv went nﬂlv.

ROSIE WINTER, « witness aalled on

Mr. Albinger? I recaived tvmntr




AR

mm ar thm tmnty &ou
a mm: rr-om Mr. nbiw

Ch‘c‘. h ‘ »

I believe that ia the fuedh x
_és; ves, that's it., T left Mr. Auw
28th of petober, 1002; ha'owod me ror b2
at that time; I have not received u.@f‘.‘f

I know Mrs, Nordan.

middle of .ruly 1902. I snid ri;ht

6'
" dollars in her stockings, and sho aid Mt egi
did not say where she received it from, mt m
week that they came back from New Haven,
CROSS EXAMINATION: . ,‘
@ Next month of Mauy I will be’ thros yom igl tﬁﬂm

country, At that time, July,




L RN

an architect, I know Mr., and Mrs, Albingor. Qﬁl_

il

i

them about four veurs,

THE DEVENDANT OOHLOI:W;1 obj0pt'¢d

I objeet,




fisld, I was there

‘ boil. I could not say if Mrs.

. for she was not in my room,
- I didn't reeceive one

nomn. I never saw Mr. A.lhimri-
money at all at may time. I uou
Mr. Nomten the following nomxng«
girl. I ponfively did not see ll"ln l.
ty dollars. |

I had been stopping in t_lie '
gers for ten dayvs, The'urvmt girl dtﬁ m

'. about the reoeipt of any wugos.




S ERLIEETSHE

that,

 FRANK E. ALBIN'OIIR.V'#&A

it was handed to her, Maybe about -~1§y

it may be two days after, I recall the




niche uftormu‘ds. 1 horrmql tm_m.,

can't tell the exact dnto.

I never hud & bank ;coomntw

People's Exhibit No. 25, I'do not lhﬁﬂ'

30th day of July,

EDWIN J. NORDEN, &

returnad from New paven utter the dil
note, I did not, that night or thn nﬁx_j
ﬁorden one hundred dollars. ; ‘

Nobody told me that pr, Albiw W m
binger one hundred dollars; 1 don't kn§' §hJ‘£ 
- 'nhut; I did hot see Mrs, Albinger that ﬂiwét'
her the next morning, |

I was in the dining room the next '
loiﬂln. 1 did not see Mr, klbﬂh;ﬁr hna'ﬂhiijv
handred donm. 5 A% i m Mrs. nm_

‘the morning of the 1sm. 1 hed Wheut oum'

o




my wife having none,

she might have had enough for the r-ntly ;

Sha u:tnm m. M

very rarely without any money,

receipt.
ANDREW J. ENSIGN, awitness for the

‘recalled in rebuttal, tentifiod'gg followss
office with Mr, Whelply,

THE DEFENDANT Um :

ob.:ut.s.on' made upon the grmmd.



fered in New pHaven, . .

T don t rocauo‘

HmMOUNt Was Qlﬁoo or not.

s L
' _ mujor '}.elplv told omu.m t'
there., Major Whelply did not m
these notes®, He did not say m,
ence, 1 was there during the 1ntorv1mw Iy
-

3 - it through, em:-q' » oon:um m mu m,



of that kind was suid. he cqia hq
or the money forAtha note,

I cannot remember thutv
had been offered by Mujor”fhblply

member that he did,

o
in regard to this matter, conlon 8
he did not say that Norden would pay
New ;aven, not to be offered in New Haven; but
offered outside and it was L0 g0 ©O & ﬁ!ﬁhy

rightly, the Suffex Bank, some little4bin@ p¥;

cut.,

iy Setiaessiius



me one time in his office, I doaﬂt”
I remember something Liﬁd'l
NO. 24; I do remember receiving that.

letter came,

until Movember following; 1 never “éﬁwﬂ
fice or his house, .
BY THE DEFENDANT CONLON: Lk

1 do remember the firlt m- I

with reference to the Reecher notsi; bhnf' m

along within & few days. I said to vou nh&t

notes -~




about the mat.rer. I do not mcﬂ‘liﬁ

1 brought him _over and introduco‘ m m

kind,
1 recollaect. that. vou told me that thﬂ wtﬁ

cffared, as you umlm-smod it, in New nuvon. ﬁd MM

counted, they were ulmost ready Lo take 1t, _but't,m gm



for somntm I recollect vm

kit . meeting me in the office tho -mﬁn&ua tﬁ

1 left the note in t.he office,

I think that is true, .

e ' I think that it is like
- | You told me that the note had beoﬁ
that Mr, Beecher declared it was gmkns
anvthing about the endorser, but mum, tm \
. I knew Mr. parrsh, 1 tqlu "‘w;”
it mvnuh'nh that was on that nét‘o_. tho W %

I had known him for twenty years, i

it éfter I left it there with the girl, T don't W‘
had it on vour person at the time, 'Bll. I hHMO nﬁ'

laection,



leet aright,
I don't think we \dt'.'s"jj

f\otor of that note, thut W

; it had been returned and never mw fﬁ
from Mr; Beasher,

I know vou said thltw. ;

‘” penuine note. 1 don't rmcmhar s tmi
. | said on that occasion;

you iiud heard that the

1 never knew that t.ho a.ou M'v

bank 1?3911‘ at that time,
returned; I never had unv converlution with vou mu- l.

- was returnsd to vou,




Pl.m. ase, v
'tromm’lcd m.' 4 'um: w Mw " &,

I ramembor th. rd.m wm
was in November, I ehinks with you M :

Warner, You told me nothing of thd l

been made of that note.

at my offiee three or four timas .nd wb

might have. been about six weeks &fter vowr ig:

1 ‘shoul.d think so,
I wanted to get the note seitled up; thut

I was after; this was at that time. We M conll

talk about the note and vou told me you were mw“w :

to raise the money for it,

'nom-n got mbout n'roo for u. 1 tmmt about a'_ t



LR N

 Thut wes slong wb
rsbrWy-iou tm;' ‘
of Maroch, Y think you told mm

would try to force Norden to 1m

tioned at all, Shea, Atwater, Ishbell M

remember,

of & listener at that time; 1 M"t

vorsution as that, T never heard m'

70 and I wanted to get the money back; what was done with

the monev I don't know,

for
puess I did, I .huvo_ heard a good dau)j. of m

Mr. conlon, but I eannot -~ would not.




didn't want to have him suffer, and 1

to protect w man who cormits & crimee,

- ner now is; he is in ylorida uonwhom.
ne 1- not in New York. He heard all W

.

was 'right there; sit.ti‘ng right bcuh'ws'

lon't recall anyvthing nore that was said, at thlt tﬂll& 

i

- THE DEFENDANT CONLON: That, of course, we objeot
to, The Staute has no right Lo introiuce any

of ours,




#ll my ufq. Affter I lort nhonl 1
Bgan gchool of Business in Ho,bmmx.'

After I smﬂted there 1 tm

menths; until about September, I think: I rwm

the summer of 1802,

saw Judge Bnsign come in there.




e . ;‘gnn't remumhnr iNh&,1f

. 4 rehember what I told him. Whenever
‘ _ur.' conlon I véom. to see. him, :
THE DEFENDANT CONLON:
she had seen me, This is
e - ,
oo thing I have said,

seen me,

Al
[ ol

R v
‘» w

I saw Mr. Albinger during the last two




remember what he said, Mr. Conlon.
I met you frequently at tha"dl'pdt._..‘.."”

ington., I d:ldntt. know New "auu.

send me u telegram,
BY MR. SANDFORD: \

1 never saw Mr, Conlon after 'ha_'mti m
not see him then.
went on my vacation in saytomber.

BY THE DEFENDANT CONLON:Z




1 don't remember. :

of ﬁha defendant, being duly”nw#hﬁ,

Lows:

After looking a4t & redord I oun |
of JUIY. 1002, I recall it, I hed & €0
conlon on that My. the leth. o | rmr




about horu mmuts. that is thn W‘

Bemeh on the L7th; I sew him thoro, h
with him, I was not with him,
S I recall that after sight o&

A ~ne was at that club house, thsra:m

‘to him, wmam.mq

said he would give it

. &y mt day, and I plaved the horse.




records. The record, 1 got, t.hn.
. up end find out about the time I Wi

t.he ‘horse,

track, 1 ecannot reecmll the numbor ot the rm %‘

w were ?.o to 1; 20 to 1 I got,

.

got 20. I sﬁy I wasn't at t'.ho. ‘t?wvnkg ww

wtion I said I was not &t the truek, I




of that,

T was &t the truck on uhu,-

Mr. Cconlon there,

1ng. 1 told you I met him &t tne trn'&
then waited for him, at nign;.

I was &t the tk;huuén];
." i run; I cannot Jus; rénﬁll yhn rd&‘;' b
. Warrahted ran in, £ _ ,’f_
Thobruoas run at the trllﬁsw

sasond, third, fourth fitfh and leth

m I bet that dur too,
: I have had cénltﬁﬂﬁiﬁlO'
mmuﬂwt-”““".‘“' '




1oolud ‘at the records and found m‘. ;1!'

remember the jockey, but I could hﬁ'i”

found out , couldn t It

aakod me 80 und so; I might, in genemﬂ. ‘omv,i

then these three; he knew that I played vn

chr prcﬁ.mu ik

-~
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